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BEFORE: Cameron Elliot, Administrative Law Judge
SUMMARY

This Initial Decision finds that Respondents should be sanctioned pursuant to Securities
and Exchange Commission (Commission or SEC) Rule of Practice (Rule) 102(e)(1)(iii) for
willfully violating the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Sarbanes-Oxley), Section 106 (Sarbanes-
Oxley 106), as amended by Section 929J of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (Dodd-Frank), and codified at 15 U.S.C. § 7216, and the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (Exchange Act). This Initial Decision censures and denies the privilege of practicing or
appearing before the Commission for a period of six months to Respondents Ernst & Young Hua
Ming LLP (E&Y), KPMG Huazhen (Special General Partnership) (KPMG), Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Ltd. (DTTC), and PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian
CPAs Limited (PwC), and censures Respondent BDO China Dahua CPA Co., Ltd. (Dahua).1

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Procedural Background

The Commission issued a Second Corrected Order Instituting Administrative
Proceedings (DTTC OIP) on May 9, 2012, against Respondent DTTC, pursuant to Rule
102(e)(1)(@iii). The DTTC OIP alleges that DTTC willfully refused to furnish its audit work
papers and other documents relating to its audit work to the Commission, pursuant to Sarbanes-
Oxley 106, in connection with its audit work for an issuer, Client A (DTTC Client A). DTTC
filed its Answer on June 5, 2012.

The Commission issued an Order Instituting Administrative Proceedings (Omnibus OIP)
on December 3, 2012, against all Respondents, also pursuant to Rule 102(e)(1)(iii). The
Omnibus OIP alleges that all Respondents willfully refused to furnish their audit work papers
and other documents relating to their audit work to the Commission, pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley
106, in connection with audit and interim review work for nine issuers, Clients A through I
(Clients A through I). Respondents submitted their Answers on January 7, 2013.

The two proceedings were consolidated on December 20, 2012, pursuant to Commission
Rule 201(a). I held a hearing on July 8-12, 22-25, and 29-31, 2013, at the Commission’s
headquarters in Washington, D.C. The Division of Enforcement (Division) and Respondents
thereafter filed post-hearing briefs and post-hearing reply briefs.” The admitted exhibits are
listed in the revised Record Index issued by the Office of the Secretary on January 22, 2014.

' As of January 2, 2013, DTTC is officially Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP. Tr. 1633-34, 1691; Resp. Ex. 267. As of April 30, 2013, Dahua is no longer
affiliated with BDO International Limited, and its name is now Dahua CPA Co., Ltd. Tr. 2052.

? Citations to the transcript of the hearing are noted as “Tr. __” and “July 31, 2013, Sealed Tr.
___ .7 Citations to Respondents’ various Answers to the Omnibus OIP are noted as
“[Respondent] Omnibus OIP Answer  ” and to DTTC’s Answer to the DTTC OIP as “DTTC
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B. Summary of Allegations

The Omnibus OIP and DTTC OIP, read together, allege as follows. Respondents
performed audit work for ten different U.S. issuers whose securities were registered with the
Commission and whose operations are principally based in the People’s Republic of China
(China). Omnibus OIP at 3; DTTC OIP at 2. The ten issuers, Clients A through I and DTTC
Client A, were or are the targets of fraud investigations by the Division. Omnibus OIP at 3;
DTTC OIP at 2. Pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley 106, the Division served requests for audit work
papers and related documents pertaining to the ten issuers on all Respondents, through their
designated U.S. agents, at various times between March 11, 2011, and April 26, 2012. Omnibus
OIP at 3-4; DTTC OIP at 2. Each Respondent willfully refused to produce any audit work
papers, which constitutes a violation of Sarbanes-Oxley 106 and of the Exchange Act. Omnibus
OIP at 4-5; DTTC OIP at 3. The Division contends that each Respondent should accordingly be
censured or denied the privilege of appearing or practicing before the Commission, pursuant to
Rule 102(e)(1)(iii), which authorizes such sanctions on a respondent who has willfully violated
any provision of the Federal securities laws. See Omnibus OIP at 5; DTTC OIP at 3; 17 C.F.R. §
201.102(e)(1)(1ii).

In their Answers, Respondents denied most of the key allegations. They also asserted, as
to Dahua, twenty-two defenses, as to E&Y, twenty-four defenses, as to KPMG, twenty-six
defenses, as to PwC, twenty-one defenses, and as to Deloitte, seventeen defenses to the Omnibus
OIP and seventeen defenses to the DTTC OIP. Dahua Omnibus OIP Answer at 12; E&Y
Omnibus OIP Answer at 14; KPMG Omnibus OIP Answer at 13; PwC Omnibus OIP Answer at
18; DTTC OIP Answer at 11; DTTC Omnibus OIP Answer at 18. Not all defenses actually
constitute affirmative defenses, and not all defenses are addressed in Respondents’ post-hearing
briefs.

C. Confidentiality

A large amount of material in this case has been filed under seal in order to maintain its
confidentiality. In some cases, the confidentiality of a particular document or testimony is not
readily apparent, and in some cases, it is. Although the vast bulk of the testimony and exhibits
were presented publicly, in open court, [ have determined that certain sections of this Initial
Decision, including sections discussing testimony presented in open court, should be sealed. I
have accordingly issued two Initial Decisions, an Initial Decision (Public) and an Initial Decision .
(Sealed), which are identical except that the public version contains redactions of sections I have
determined should not be publicly disclosed, and the sealed version has a “SUBJECT TO
PROTECTIVE ORDER - OUTSIDE COUNSEL’S EYES ONLY” designation at the top of each

page.

OIP Answer _ .” Citations to exhibits offered by the Division and Respondents are noted as
“Div. Ex. __ .” and “Resp. Ex. __.”, respectively. The Division’s and Respondents’ post-
hearing briefs are noted as “Div. Br. __ .” and “Resp. Br. __.”, respectively. The Division’s
and Respondents’ post-hearing reply briefs are noted as “Div. Reply _ ” and “Resp. Reply

7, respectively. The Division’s and Respondents’ prehearing briefs are noted as “Div.
Prehearing Br. _ .” and “Resp. Prehearing Br. _ .”, respectively.
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As a general proposition, the redacted sections fall into two categories. First, I have
redacted much of the discussion of the testimony and opinions of the expert witnesses offered on
the subject of sanctions. Two of those experts testified entirely non-publicly, and their expert
reports were filed under seal. Because their opinions rely on non-public information, including
proprietary information, there is a substantial risk that disclosing their testimony and opinions
will reveal confidential information. At the same time, I have determined that the probative
value of the opinions of all the sanctions-related expert witnesses is extremely low, as explained
infra. Thus, the potential cost of disclosing their testimony and opinions greatly outweighs the
benefits of disclosure. 17 C.F.R. § 201.322(b).

Second, I have redacted large portions of the factual findings and legal discussion
pertaining to Chinese law and interactions between the Commission and the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (CSRC). I am hopeful that the Commission and the CSRC will
continue to constructively engage each other. However, some passages of this Initial Decision
discuss the Commission, the CSRC, and their interaction more candidly than is customary in
diplomatic circles. I am therefore concerned that some of my factual findings and legal
discussion may interfere with any ongoing discussions between the Commission and the CSRC,
and this consideration is of paramount importance. Accordingly, although the expert testimony
regarding Chinese law, and the testimony pertaining to interactions between the Commission and
the CSRC, were entirely in open court, I find that the potential cost of disclosing some of my
factual findings and legal discussion on these issues outweighs the benefits of disclosure, so
much so that they should be issued under seal. 17 C.F.R. § 201.322(b).

Because some of the redacted material contains or discloses commercially sensitive or
proprietary information, the Initial Decision (Sealed) is subject to the Stipulated Protective Order
entered May 9, 2013, as modified by the Joint Stipulation and Amendment to Stipulated
Protective Order entered July 29, 2013. However, because the Initial Decision (Sealed) contains
or discloses commercially sensitive or proprietary information as to all Respondents, no partner,
principal, employee, in-house counsel, or witness of Respondents or Respondents’ global
network should have access to it. Accordingly, the Initial Decision (Sealed) should be treated
generally as “CONFIDENTIAL — SUBJECT TO PROTECTIVE ORDER - FILE UNDER
SEAL — OUTSIDE COUNSEL’S EYES ONLY,” except that no partner, principal, employee, in-
house counsel, or witness of Respondents or Respondents’ global network shall review it.

I1. FINDINGS OF FACT

The findings and conclusions herein are based on the entire record. 1 applied
preponderance of the evidence as the standard of proof. See Steadman v. SEC, 450 U.S. 91, 102
(1981). I have considered and rejected all arguments, proposed findings, and conclusions that
are inconsistent with this Initial Decision.

A. Dahua

Dahua is an accounting firm headquartered in Beijing, China. Tr.2048-49. It has twenty
offices in China and no offices outside of China, and approximately 3,500 employees. Tr. 2049.



Ji Feng (Ji), Dahua’s only lay witness, has been employed by Dahua for twelve years and was
Dahua’s executive partner in charge of quality control in 2011 and 2012. Tr. 2049-50. He is
currently in charge of one of Dahua’s six headquarters business divisions and its headquarters
management and consulting division. Tr. 2050.

Dahua “ranks number 10” among accounting firms in China. Tr. 2051. Dahua provides
auditing, management, and consulting services to Chinese listed companies, initial public
offerings, large state owned companies, and other companies. Tr. 2051. Dahua formerly
provided services to Chinese companies with securities listed in the U.S., but in response to this
proceeding, it exited that market and terminated its relationships with such clients. Tr. 2051. To
develop its ability to provide services to China-based U.S. issuers, Dahua provided specialized
training to its employees and recruited professionals with English proficiency and appropriate
work experience. Tr. 2051-52. Dahua has or had a division that focused on work for China-
based U.S. issuers, with offices in Beijing, Shenzhen, and Wuhan. Tr. 2052. Dahua was a
member firm of the BDO international network until April 30, 2013. Tr. 2052. It left the BDO
international network for reasons unrelated to this proceeding. Tr. 2053.

Dahua is regulated in China by the Chinese Ministry of Finance (MOF) and the CSRC.
Tr. 2053. Dahua registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Board or
PCAOB) in 2006. Tr. 2053-54. Its registration with the Board was its first registration with a
foreign regulator. Tr. 2054. It registered with the Board because China-based U.S. issuers
wanted to hire Dahua as their auditor. Tr. 2054.

Dahua stated in its application to the Board that it could not provide work papers or
related documents directly to the Board. Tr. 2054-55. This statement was based at least in part
upon a June 15, 2005, letter from the Century-Link & Xin Ji Yuan (Century-Link) law firm,
which opined that Chinese law prevented Dahua from giving work papers directly to U.S.
regulators. Tr. 2101-02; Div. Ex. 148, Exhibit 5. The Board accepted Dahua’s application, but
told Dahua that it was obligated to follow U.S. law. Tr. 2055, 2057, 2104. In its annual reports
to the Board, Dahua stated that because of Chinese law, Dahua could not provide work papers
and related documents directly to the Board. Tr. 2057. The Board did not respond to any of
these statements in Dahua’s annual reports, which led Dahua to believe that the Board accepted
the statements. Tr. 2058, 2105-06.

Pursuant to Chinese law, Dahua has a file management policy and a file management
office staffed by file management personnel. Tr. 2058. When work papers are filed and sorted,
they are delivered to the file management office and preserved for the required period. Tr. 2058.
Dahua considers its work papers to be archives. Tr. 2058-59.

1. Client A Investigation

Client A,®> a former client of Dahua, is located in Fujian Province, China, and is
incorporated in Nevada. Tr. 607, 2059-60, 2084, 2096; Div. Ex. 30 at 3. Client A markets and

3 The parties have agreed to refer to the ten clients under investigation by letter designation, in
order to minimize their public exposure. E.g., Tr. 605-06. Because the actual identities of the
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distributes fresh seafood products and dried seafood products, and has an algae-based drink
business. Tr. 607. Its securities are registered with the Commission and trade on the New York
Stock Exchange (NYSE). Tr. 607. Dahua was engaged to prepare an audit report for Client A,
and performed its audit work on site, in China. Tr. 2060. Dahua’s Client A work papers are
located in Shenzhen, China. Tr. 2060. Client A’s current auditor is Li Xin, another Chinese
accounting firm. Tr. 2053, 2121.

Daniel Weinstein (Weinstein) has been employed by the Commission since September
1997 as a senior counsel with the Division. Tr. 603-04. He testified for the Division regarding
Client A. The Commission opened an investigation into Client A in 2011, based on a transaction
reported in a form 8-K/A filed March 16, 2010. Tr. 606, 608, 648; Div. Ex. 36. The transaction
was an acquisition of a company by Client A for $27 million, even though the primary asset of
the acquired company, which the form 8-K/A characterizes as “Algae-based drink know-how,”
had been obtained five months before for $8600. Tr. 608; Div. Ex. 36 at F-14.

As part of the investigation, Weinstein sought documents directly from Client A,
including acquisition valuations, and received all of them except for those identified in a
privilege log. Tr. 610, 644. The privilege log did not cite impediments under Chinese law to
producing documents. Tr. 610. Also, certain Client A executives testified during the
investigation. Tr. 644.

Also as part of the investigation, Weinstein sought Dahua’s audit work papers in
connection with their audit of Client A. Tr. 616. Dahua was engaged as Client A’s auditor in
October 2010, a fact reflected in a form 8-K filed November 2, 2010. Tr. 611-12; Div. Ex. 32 at
3. Client A filed a form 10-K on March 2, 2011, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010,
which included an unqualified audit opinion by Dahua. Tr. 615, 2099; Div. Ex. 31 at F-2.
Dahua’s audit work papers were requested because the investigators had reason to doubt the
valuation of the acquired company’s principal asset. Tr. 616-17. The work papers would reveal
facts about the algae-based drink business, and would disclose whether Dahua had performed an
“impairment analysis” and their procedure for doing so. Tr. 617.

Weinstein sent a subpoena on May 19, 2011, to BDO USA, LLP (BDO USA), seeking
BDO USA’s audit work papers for Client A, among other things. Tr. 624; Div. Ex. 281.
Although BDO USA eventually produced certain documents, they did not produce any audit
work papers for Client A. Tr. 624-25. Weinstein also sent a voluntary request for Dahua’s audit
work papers on May 19, 2011, to BDO USA’s general counsel, who had agreed to forward the
request to Dahua. Tr. 617-18; Div. Ex. 280. Weinstein did not consider it appropriate to
communicate directly with Dahua or with individuals in China. Tr. 684-85. He understood that
the Commission and the CSRC, but not the MOF, are signatories to a Multilateral Memorandum
of Understanding (MMOU). Tr. 657-58, 687.

clients are of minimal relevance, this Initial Decision follows the same practice. I note, however,
that the identities of the clients are readily ascertainable because they have generally not been
redacted from the exhibits admitted at the hearing.
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In response to the voluntary request, Ji telephoned Director Lim Qiyan of the regulation
and examination bureau of the MOF. Tr. 2062-63. Ji was told that according to Chinese law,
Dahua could not provide work papers directly to the Commission. Tr. 2064.

BDO USA responded on May 25, 2011, by forwarding an email from Joan Chen (Chen)
at Dahua, in which Dahua stated it “would like to provide documents” but “has decided to
withhold” them because under Chinese law “any domestic accounting firm should not
voluntarily submit any audit information as well as working papers of a client to any foreign
government investigation agency.” Tr. 619-20; Div. Ex. 282. Dahua cited to a request made on
May 24, 2011, to the MOF, which directed Dahua not to produce the requested documents, and
referred the Commission to the MOF. Div. Ex. 282.

Weinstein considered this response to be unduly vague, and so sent another letter to BDO
USA on August 3, 2011, requesting clarification. Tr. 621-22; Div. Ex. 283. BDO USA
responded on October 17, 2011, by email to Weinstein, forwarding another email from Chen.
Tr. 622; Div. Ex. 284. Chen’s second email again stated that Dahua “would like to provide
documents” but “decided to withhold” them, cited to its May 24, 2011, request to the MOF, and
referred the Commission to the MOF. Div. Ex. 284. It also cited to Article 21 of the Law on
Guarding State Secrets of China (State Secrets Law) and to Article 22 of the Measures for
Implementation of the State Secrets Law. Div. Ex. 284.

Weinstein considered Dahua’s second response to be insufficiently specific, and so he
discussed the matter with the Commission’s Office of International Affairs (OIA). Tr. 623.
Weinstein had previously sought and obtained documents from foreign regulators by working
with OIA, although in one instance it took “a number of months” to obtain the documents. Tr.
644-46, 650. As a result of discussions with OIA, which revealed that requests made to the
CSRC in other investigations had not been fruitful, the investigators determined in
approximately October 2011 not to submit such a request to the Chinese government as to Client
A. Tr. 623, 643, 659.

On October 10, 2011, Ji attended a meeting with representatives of the MOF, the CSRC,
and five other Chinese accounting firms, namely, the other Respondents and GT International.
Tr. 2064, 2116. The MOF and CSRC officials “explicitly” stated three opinions. Tr. 2064.
First, they said that Chinese accounting firms must abide by Chinese laws and they cannot
provide work papers and related documents to overseas regulators directly. Tr. 2064-65.
Second, they said that legal penalties would be imposed on firms that provide work papers
without authorization. Tr. 2065. Third, they said that if any overseas regulatory agencies
request access to work papers, they should discuss the matter with Chinese regulatory
authorities. Tr. 2065.

These three points were documented in a letter dated October 26, 2011 (Letter 437),
which the CSRC faxed to Dahua. Tr. 2065-66; Resp. Ex. 20. For unknown reasons, Dahua did
not receive Letter 437 until June 2012. Tr. 2088-89, 2115-17; Resp. Exs. 20-A, 651. Dahua did
not rely on Letter 437 in its initial response to the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request because Dahua
was already “very aware” of the MOF’s position. Tr.2119. Dahua knew of the MOF’s position,
and the CSRC’s similar position, as early as 2005, before registering with the Board. Tr. 2120.



Ji understood that Letter 437 was disseminated privately, not publicly, to the six accounting
firms in attendance at the October 10, 2011, meeting. Tr. 2116. During his testimony, Ji
underlined in red the portion of Letter 437 that stated, in Mandarin, “cannot provide work
papers.” Tr. 2110-12; Div. Ex. 350 at 3.

2. Client A Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Request

Weinstein sent a request to Dahua, via BDO USA, on February 1, 2012, pursuant to
Sarbanes-Oxley 106, seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other documents related to any
audit work or interim reviews performed for [Client A] for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2010.” Tr. 625; Div. Ex. 34. Dahua designated BDO USA as its U.S. agent for service under
Sarbanes-Oxley 106 no later than August 2011. Div. Ex. 165A at 25-28.

Dahua received the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request on or about February 1, 2012. Tr. 2108.
In response, Ji contacted the CSRC. Tr. 2089. The CSRC, like the MOF in May 2011, told Ji
that Dahua could not provide audit work papers and related documents directly to overseas
agencies, and if it did so without prior authorization, Dahua would be held legally responsible.
Tr. 2090. Although Dahua was “very willing” to provide the work papers, they did not do so, in
compliance with Chinese law and the CSRC’s opinion. Tr. 2090. According to Ji, Dahua had
“no choices” in the matter. Tr. 2125, 2131.

Dahua responded to the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request by letter dated April 2, 2012, with
Chen’s two previous emails attached, but without any audit work papers. Tr. 627; Div. Ex. 35.
The letter stated, among other things, that Dahua “cannot produce documents responsive to the
Investigation directly to the [Commission] because such production will violate [Chinese] law
and expose [Dahua] and its employees to serious civil and criminal liability.” Div. Ex. 35 at 1.
The letter also stated that Dahua “would welcome the cooperation of the [Commission] and the
CSRC in [Dahua’s] production of documents.” Div. Ex. 35 at 1. After a summary of Dahua’s
understanding of Chinese state secrets law, the letter explained that Dahua had sought consent to
produce the requested documents from the CSRC, the MOF, the State Secrets Bureau, and the
State Archives Bureau, without success, and that absent such consent, it would be “impossible . .
. for [Dahua] to produce its documents.” Div. Ex. 35 at 2. In closing, the letter stated that Dahua
“cannot responsibly take steps that could expose itself and its employees to draconian sanctions —
including prison time.” Div. Ex. 35 at 3. Dahua did not identify any particular documents that
had been designated as state secrets, nor did the Chinese government state that the requested
documents were designated as state secrets. Tr. 631-32, 634.

Weinstein made no further inquiries to determine whether Dahua accurately characterized
its assertions, nor have they issued a subpoena to Dahua, requested the documents from any
Chinese regulatory agency, or attempted to enforce the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request in court. Tr.
674, 680-83. The lack of audit work papers hindered the Division’s investigation because it
prevented review of how the auditors examined Client A’s corporate acquisition and the viability
of the acquired company, and how they tested the “validity of the business.” Tr. 634-35. The
investigation remains open but has resulted in no enforcement action, and the investigators are
trying to determine their next step. Tr. 635, 655.



On May 3, 2012, after a “Wells call” with the general counsel of BDO USA, Weinstein
sent a Wells notice to Dahua via BDO USA, notifying Dahua that the Division intended to
recommend initiation of the present action. Tr. 635-36; Div. Ex. 140. In response, Dahua
provided a written report for the MOF and the CSRC, notifying those agencies that it had
received the Wells notice. Tr. 2091-92; Resp. Ex. 52. The report warned that Dahua might “face
fines and be [stripped] of the status of a qualified auditor in the U.S. securities market,” noted
that DTTC had already been the subject of an administrative proceeding, and requested both
guidance on how to proceed and permission to produce the requested audit work papers. Tr.
2091-92; Resp. Ex. 52 at 17-18. The CSRC responded in a private communication, essentially
repeating its previous position. Tr. 2091-92. Neither the MOF nor the CSRC gave permission to
produce the requested work papers. Tr. 2092. Dahua, through counsel, made a Wells
submission by letter dated June 4, 2012, which included a copy of a letter from the CSRC to
DTTC, dated October 11, 2011 (Letter 413), that is very similar to Letter 437. Tr. 2127; Div.
Ex. 148, Exhibit 1.

In December 2012, after the OIP was issued and received by Dahua, Dahua once again
provided a written report for the MOF and the CSRC, notifying those agencies of the situation.
Tr. 2093; Resp. Ex. 56. Dahua once again had a private conversation with the CSRC, on
approximately December 5, 2012, in which the CSRC once again repeated its previous position
and declined to permit production of the requested work papers, and also stated that Dahua had
discretion in how to respond to the present proceeding. Tr. 2093-95. Dahua also published a
notice of the pending proceeding on its website. Tr. 2093; Resp. Ex. 56 at 8.

On December 10, 2012, Ji attended a meeting with representatives of the MOF, the
CSRC, and the other Respondents, at which Respondents reported on the present proceeding. Tr.
2095. The MOF and the CSRC reiterated their previous positions, and again said that the
accounting firms had discretion in how to respond to the present proceeding. Tr. 2096. There

was no discussion at this meeting about a state secrets review by any of the firms in attendance.
Tr. 2124.

Ji opined that if Dahua lost its registration with the Board, Dahua would lose all its
business in the U.S. market, its reputation would be hurt because clients might mistakenly think
that Dahua was sanctioned for poor audit quality, and its investment in specialized staff, training,
and technical support directed to the U.S. market would have been wasted. Tr. 2096-97. Dahua
has stopped taking on any new China-based U.S. issuers as clients and terminated its existing
contracts with such clients. Tr. 2097-98. It retains its Board registration, however, and plans to
keep its registration current. Tr. 2102-03.

B. E&Y

E&Y is an accounting firm established in Beijing, China in 1992. Tr. 1398-99. It
performs services in mainland China and has no offices or employees outside of China. Tr.
1401. Two persons testified for E&Y, Alden Leung (Leung) and Randall Leali (Leali). Tr.
1397, 1728. Leung, who has a degree in economics from the University of Manchester in the
U.K. and is a qualified accountant in China and the U.K., has worked at Ernst & Young since
1994. Tr. 1397, 1490-91. He has been a partner since 2000, and since 2007 he has been quality



and risk management leader for China, Hong Kong, and Taiwan. Tr. 1397-98. He helps
engagement teams, including those at E&Y, provide quality service, handles regulatory matters,
and manages risk in areas such as investigations, inspections, and litigation. Tr. 1398. Leali,
who has been licensed as a certified public accountant (CPA) since 1986, has worked at Ernst &
Young or an affiliated or predecessor firm since 1984, mainly in northeast Ohio. Tr. 1728. He
transferred to Hong Kong in 2006 as professional practice director for the Far East area, where
he worked with E&Y. Tr. 1728-30. He was the head tactical accounting and auditing partner,
with four areas of supervision: capital markets, inspections, audit methodology, and consultation
regarding U.S. and international financial reporting standards. Tr. 1729-30. The capital markets
group exercised a quality control function over U.S. regulatory filings. Tr. 1486, 1750-51. Leali
moved to Ernst & Young’s Chicago office in June 2013. Tr. 1728, 1750.

E&Y provides primarily auditing and assurance services. Tr. 1399. It prepares audit
reports for U.S. issuers, although it did not in 1992. Tr. 1399. In 1992, it had one office with
about 100 employees, in 2004 it had five offices with 1,288 employees, including 1,046
accountants and 229 CPAs, in 2012 it had eight offices with 4,275 employees, including 3,746
accountants and 998 CPAs, and as of the hearing it had about 1,100 CPAs. Tr. 1482-84; Resp.
Ex. 605. E&Y developed expertise in the auditing of U.S.-related engagements, which included
special training and the establishment of the capital markets group. Tr. 1486-87. The capital
markets group had ten employees in Hong Kong in 2006, and by 2013 it had forty employees in
Hong Kong, Beijing, and Shanghai. Tr. 1751. The growth in the practice group was the result of
market demand centered on initial public offerings, presumably in the U.S., and involved
recruiting bilingual professionals. Tr. 1751-52. E&Y audited three foreign private issuers in
2006, and over twenty in 2013. Tr. 1752. E&Y is a member of the EY Global Network of Ernst
& Young firms. Tr. 1402.

E&Y is licensed and regulated in China by the MOF and the CSRC. Tr. 1399-1400. The
MOF and the CSRC report to the State Council of China, which is headed by the Chinese
premier. Tr. 1400. Both agencies have the power to license, supervise, inspect, and sanction
Chinese accounting firms. Tr. 1400. Sanctions may include reprimands, suspensions, and
license revocations. Tr. 1401. E&Y maintains its work papers in mainland China. Tr. 1401.
This is pursuant to Chinese law, namely, CSRC announcement 29 of 2009 (Reg 29), which

prohibits work papers from leaving China without approval of the regulatory authorities. Tr.
1402.

E&Y registered with the Board in 2004. Tr. 1402-03; Resp. Ex. 1. It files annual
reports with the Board, and since 2010, Leung has signed them. Tr. 1403. E&Y stated in its
application to the Board that it “might not be able to comply” with Board requests for documents
or testimony, because of Chinese law. Tr. 1498-99; Resp. Ex. 1 at 33. This statement was based
at least in part upon an April 29, 2004 letter from Century-Link, which opined that Chinese law
prevented E&Y from complying with such requests. Tr. 1499-1500; Resp. Ex. 1 at 22, 33.
According to the letter, possible penalties for legal violations include an order to cease the illegal
conduct and a fine. Tr. 1499-1501. The letter also concludes that both the sender (i.e., the
accounting firm) and the recipient (e.g., the Board) of requested documents could be held legally
liable for violating Chinese law. Tr. 1595-96; Resp. Ex. 1 at 36. E&Y expected a resolution
between the U.S. and China on any rules conflicts. Tr. 1503, 1506. The Board accepted E&Y’s
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application, but told E&Y that it was obligated to follow U.S. law. Tr. 1505-06; Div. Ex. 8. In
its 2010, 2011, and 2012 annual reports to the Board, E&Y declined to affirm that it consented to
cooperate with Board investigations, but also disclosed that it had completed audits of eleven,
twenty-three, and twenty-one U.S. issuers, respectively, for all of which E&Y had been paid. Tr.
1507-12; Div. Ex. 18 at 6-7, 19; Div. Ex. 19 at 6-9, 20; Div. Ex. 20 at 6-9, 20.

1. Client B Investigation

Client B, a former client of E&Y, is based in China, where it manufactures and
distributes organic fertilizer, and was incorporated in Delaware as of March 2011. Tr. 471,
1730; Div. Ex. 42 at 2. Its securities traded on NASDAQ beginning in 2009, NASDAQ delisted
its securities in April 2012, and its registration was revoked as a result of an enforcement
proceeding in October 2012. Tr. 471-72, 517-19; Resp. Exs. 9, 36. Crowe Horwath LLP
(Crowe Horwath) (or its predecessor in interest) was Client B’s auditor for fiscal years 2008 and
2009, and audited its 2008 and 2009 financial statements. Tr. 472-73, 475; Div. Ex. 40 at 59;
Div. Ex. 41 at 3.

E&Y was engaged on November 13, 2010, by Client B to perform an integrated audit for
the year ended December 31, 2010. Tr. 473, 1403, 1730-31; Div. Ex. 41 at 3. It never
conducted a review or completed an audit before being terminated on March 14, 2011, although
it did do some audit work. Tr. 496, 1547; Resp. Ex. 8 at 2. In December 2010, the engagement
team approached Leali about certain findings, mostly related to internal controls, and which
included a refusal of access to Client B’s facility in Harbin, China. Tr. 1731. Leali advised the
engagement team to put their findings in writing and give the letter to the audit committee, which
they did. Tr. 1731-32. That E&Y might give such a letter to the audit committee was actually
written into their engagement letter. Tr. 501; Resp. Ex. 566 at 1. Leali had an additional
meeting about new findings regarding Client B in Beijing in January 2011. Tr. 1732.

In February 2011, while E&Y was continuing its normal audit procedures, a short seller
report came out, which E&Y treated as a whistleblower disclosure. Tr. 1732. The short seller
report claimed that Client B was a scam, and that the size of its operations was considerably
smaller than what was publicly reported. Tr. 1732-33. Client B’s audit committee engaged
E&Y to expand its procedures to be responsive to the short seller report’s allegations. Tr. 1733.

E&Y’s resulting findings were “considerable,” involving potentially illegal acts, and
were summarized in a Powerpoint presentation made to the audit committee on March 8, 2011,
in Beijing. Tr. 1733-34, 1755; Div. Ex. 49. E&Y recommended that the audit committee begin
an independent investigation, and the audit committee said they wanted to discuss the matter
with management. Tr. 1734-35. E&Y also “ceased [its] audit work™ on that date. Resp. Ex. 6 at
2. E&Y met with the audit committee again on March 10, 2011, at which time the audit
committee agreed to an independent investigation and to issue a form 8-K about the
investigation. Tr. 1735. Leali reviewed drafts of the form 8-K before it was issued, which
included a statement that certain issues were identified in the course of E&Y’s audit. Tr. 1735-
36. The final form 8-K, which was issued on March 13, 2011, did not contain that statement.
Tr. 1736; Div. Ex. 43 at 6. This omission was significant to E&Y because the short seller report
was public but E&Y’s audit findings were not, so E&Y contacted Client B’s external legal
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counsel and informed them that if Client B did not issue a corrective form 8-K, then E&Y would
resign. Tr. 1737.

Client B did not issue a “corrective” form 8-K, and instead terminated E&Y on March
14, 2011, before it issued any audit report, and issued another form 8-K on March 18, 2011,
which reported the termination. Tr. 1404-05, 1738, 1742; Resp. Ex. 8. The reason given for the
termination was incorrect, in E&Y’s view, so E&Y issued a letter pursuant to Section 10A(b) of
the Exchange Act (10A Letter) to the board of Client B, informing the board of illegal acts. Tr.
1406, 1739-40; Div. Ex. 45. Because it had no evidence that Client B had timely forwarded the
10A Letter to the Commission, E&Y sent the 10A Letter to the Commission itself. Tr. 1741-42;
Resp. Ex. 570. In fact, Client B did provide the 10A Letter to the Commission. Tr. 514. Leali
had a role in issuing the 10A Letter, but Leung did not. Tr. 1405-06. This was Leali’s first
involvement in drafting a 10A Letter to a client. Tr. 1747, 1758.

Client B’s audit work papers were preserved in Beijing, pursuant to document
preservation notices. Tr. 1407-08; Resp. Ex. 568. Specifically, they were provided to in-house
legal counsel, segregated, indexed, and prepared for production. Tr. 1742. E&Y would produce
the audit work papers for Client B if it were allowed to do so under Chinese law and by Chinese
regulators. Tr. 1407.

Eric Hubbs (Hubbs) has been employed by the Commission since June 2000 and is an
assistant chief accountant. Tr. 469. He primarily investigates financial fraud and auditor
misconduct. Tr. 469. He investigated Client B and testified for the Division on that subject. Tr.
470. The time frame investigated was 2008-2010, and dealt with many aspects of Client B’s
activities, including production capacity, revenue recognition, undisclosed related party
transactions, internal control deficiencies, and the existence of customers, suppliers, and
facilities. Tr. 472-73. In Hubbs’ experience, a 10A Letter is “not common,” and in his time at
the Commission he has seen “under five” such letters. Tr. 502.

Hubbs received documents from various entities in response to document requests and
subpoenas. Tr. 474. A “substantial” number of documents were produced by Client B directly,
including general business records, emails, and board minutes. Tr. 474-75. Client B did not
assert that any produced documents held state secrets, nor did it indicate that it withheld any
documents on that basis. Tr. 475. Crowe Horwath also produced documents, pursuant to a
subpoena, including audit work papers, and did not withhold any documents based on any
Chinese law restrictions. Tr. 479-80. Crowe Horwath is based in Sherman Oaks, California, and
the field work for Crowe Horwath’s audits was conducted by a Crowe Horwath affiliate in Hong
Kong. Tr. 480, 544-45, 549, Div. Ex. 40 at F-1. It is unknown whether the Hong Kong affiliate
is licensed to practice accounting in mainland China. Tr. 580. It is unknown whether Crowe
Horwath is licensed to practice accounting in mainland China, although Leung knows of no U.S.
firms so licensed. Tr. 1592.

Hubbs also sought E&Y’s audit work papers. Tr. 483. Hubbs considered them
potentially “very useful” to the investigation. Tr. 482. He would have expected to see in the
audit work papers documentation regarding E&Y’s concerns, representations from Client B’s
management, documentation regarding cash confirmations, and documentation regarding the
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expanded procedures as to which Client B’s audit committee engaged E&Y. Tr. 482-83. In
particular, he would have expected to see presentations from the auditor to the audit committee,
such as E&Y’s March 8, 2011, Powerpoint presentation. Tr. 509; Div. Ex. 49. Hubbs is not sure
how the Division came into possession of that presentation, although it has no E&Y Bates
number on it and Hubbs testified that it “may have” been obtained directly from Client B. Tr.
508. Leali testified that he understood Client B sent it to the U.S. Tr. 1757.

Accordingly, Division investigators sent E&Y a voluntary request for production on June
30, 2011, after sending a “substantively identical” request to Ernst & Young LLP on May 3,
2011. Tr. 483-84; Div. Ex. 306. E&Y designated Emnst & Young LLP as its U.S. agent for
service under Sarbanes-Oxley 106 no later than March 1, 2011. Tr. 1517, 1520; Div. Ex. 165-A
at 11-12. Leung became aware of the voluntary request in late June 2011. Tr. 1409; Resp. Ex.
11. This was the first time, to Leung’s knowledge, that E&Y had received a request for work
papers from any U.S. regulatory authority. Tr. 1409. Leung discussed the request with E&Y’s
general counsel, who discussed it with Chinese counsel. Tr. 1410. Based on Reg 29 and advice
of counsel, and because they are E&Y’s regulators, Leung called and reported the matter to the
MOF and the CSRC. Tr. 1410-11. He then met with them separately. Tr. 1411. Prior to the
meetings, his position was that E&Y was “very willing” to provide working papers to the
Commission so long as Chinese law allowed it. Tr. 1411.

Leung met with three officials of the CSRC, including its chief accountant, in mid-July
2011. Tr. 1411-12. He had met these officials previously as part of his job, although this was
his first meeting with them regarding requests from a foreign regulator. Tr. 1412-13. When he
met with them, he brought a copy of the voluntary request, explained the request, asked for
advice, and was told that foreign regulators should contact the CSRC directly and accounting
firms should not provide work papers directly to foreign regulators. Tr. 1413-14. He was also
told that any further requests or communications should be brought to the CSRC’s attention. Tr.
1414. There was no discussion of the State Secrets Law, or laws pertaining to archives or
certified public accountants, and because he was told not to provide work papers to foreign
regulators, he made no effort to contact the Chinese State Secrets Bureau or Archives Bureau.
Tr. 1415-16. Leung had known since 2004 that this was likely to be the guidance he would
receive. Tr. 1531, 1539-40.

Leung met with the director of the MOF’s Supervision and Investigations Bureau on the
same day he met with CSRC officials. Tr. 1416-17. He had met the director previously as part
of his job. Tr. 1417. As with the CSRC meeting, Leung brought a copy of the voluntary request,
explained the request, asked for advice, and was told that foreign regulators should contact
Chinese regulators directly and accounting firms should not provide work papers directly to
foreign regulators. Tr. 1417-18. He was also told that Chinese regulators were in discussions
with U.S. regulators about work papers, and that there was an understanding that U.S. regulators
would not punish any Chinese accounting firm for not providing work papers. Tr. 1418-19.

Leung then reported to legal counsel, and counsel from Linklaters responded to the
Commission’s voluntary request by letter dated July 29, 2011. Tr. 1419; Div. Ex. 307; Resp. Ex.
12. The response included less than about thirty documents, totaled seventy-seven pages, and
included a legal memorandum from external counsel (Linklaters LLP and Century-Link),
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explaining the basis for withholding other documents. Tr. 484, 1420; Resp. Ex. 12 at 3. The
documents produced included engagement letters, invoices, and the 10A Letter. Tr. 484.
Division investigators then sent a subpoena to Ernst & Young LLP on February 15, 2012,
seeking documents in that organization’s possession pertaining to Client B’s audit. Tr. 487-88;
Div. Ex. 308. Although Ernst & Young LLP produced some documents in response, they did not
include work papers from E&Y. Tr. 488; Div. Ex. 309.

2. Client C Investigation

Client C, a former client of E&Y, operates in and around China, where it works in the oil
field business, specifically in enhanced oil recovery, and it was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as of March 2011. Tr. 266, 1743; Div. Ex. 50 at 3; Resp. Ex. 14. E&Y was engaged in
Feburary 2011 to audit Client C’s financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2010, an
audit it completed on March 31, 2011. Tr. 270, 1743; Div. Ex. 50; Resp. Ex. 14. Client C’s
securities were registered with the Commission and traded on NASDAQ beginning in November
2010, but trading was suspended in August 2011, when a short seller report was issued. Tr. 266,
1744; Div. Ex. 53. Thereafter, Client C’s shares traded for a time on the pink sheets before their
registration was revoked on May 30, 2012. Tr. 266; Div. Ex. 51.

The short seller report alleged that Client C was a shell corporation not capable of
importing the volume of product it claimed, that the price for its product was considerably lower
than claimed, and that its five largest customers were also shell corporations. Tr. 1744. When
Client C asked NASDAQ to resume trading, NASDAQ requested verification of Client C’s bank
accounts by an independent accountant, and management engaged E&Y to do that. Tr. 1744.

When E&Y attempted to verify the primary bank account, it was prevented from doing
so. Tr. 1745. E&Y went back to management, and on September 6, 2011, after muitiple
discussions, Client C’s chairman confessed that there had been an unauthorized transfer of about
$40 million out of that account in July 2011. Tr. 1745-46. Although the transfer occurred
outside the reporting period for which E&Y was engaged, E&Y asked for authorization to verify
bank accounts dating to the beginning of the reporting period, and asked the audit committee and
the board to take appropriate action against Client C’s chairman. Tr. 1746-47; Resp. Ex. 14 at 1.
E&Y was not allowed to verify bank accounts, and was told that the chairman would be retained.
Tr. 1747.

On September 22, 2011, E&Y submitted a 10A Letter and a resignation letter to Client
C’s audit committee. Tr. 1747-48; Div. Ex. 54; Resp. Ex. 14. The resignation letter also
withdrew E&Y’s previously issued opinion. Tr. 1748; Resp. Ex. 14 at 2. A much briefer letter,
dated September 22, 2011, was sent to the Commission and to the audit committee, simply
announcing E&Y’s resignation. Tr. 1748-49; Resp. Ex. 15. As of September 2011, E&Y’s audit
work papers for Client C had been provided to internal legal counsel, indexed, and prepared for
production. Tr. 1749.

David Peavler (Peavler) joined the Commission in April 2000 as an enforcement staff

attorney, left after about a year and a half to enter private practice, and then returned in
November 2002, again as an enforcement staff attorney. Tr. 263. He was promoted multiple

14



times and in November 2011 he was appointed associate regional director for enforcement in the
Commission’s Fort Worth Regional Office, where he supervises all enforcement activity in that
Regional Office. Tr. 262-63. He has spent a “great deal of time” working on financial
misstatement cases at the Commission and in private practice. Tr. 264. Peavler supervised the
investigation of Client C and testified about it for the Division. Tr. 264-65.

The investigation of Client C began as a result of the short seller report and E&Y’s 10A
Letter. Tr. 268-69; Div. Exs. 53, 54. Peavler has not “seen very many [10A Letters] at all” in
his years of experience. Tr. 346. There were two subjects of investigation: a possible
overstatement of the number and value of Client C’s principal assets (lateral hydraulic drilling
units), and the chairman’s embezzlement. Tr. 267. Division investigators requested information
directly from Client C, and served subpoenas on, and interviewed witnesses at, a U.S.-based
supplier of Client C’s lateral hydraulic drilling units. Tr. 269-70.

After first submitting to E&Y a request to preserve documents, which E&Y did, on
October 5, 2011, Division investigators submitted a voluntary request for “workpapers” and
other documents pertaining generally to Client C’s bank account verification and the
embezzlement by its chairman, as opposed to the year-end September 30, 2010, audit. Tr. 272-
74, 296-97, 317-18, 1420-21; Div. Ex. 59; Resp. Exs. 17, 573. Division investigators also sent a
virtually identical request to Ermnst & Young Hong Kong. Tr. 274. At approximately this time,
the Board opened its own investigation into E&Y’s audit of Client C. Tr. 1421; Resp. Ex. 574.
The Board submitted to Leung at E&Y an accounting board demand (ABD) dated October 7,
2011, which requested “[a]ll work papers and other documents concerning all audits and
reviews” of Client C. Tr. 1421-22; Resp. Ex. 574 at 8.

Leung consulted with counsel and then contacted the MOF and the CSRC, in particular,
one of the directors in the CSRC’s accounting department. Tr. 1423-24. The CSRC official
stated that other accounting firms had received similar requests, and that he wanted Leung to
organize a meeting of the accounting firms with the CSRC. Tr. 1424-25. These accounting
firms included the other Respondents and Grant Thornton, and they confirmed to Leung that they
had received similar requests. Tr. 1425-26. The meeting took place on October 10, 2011, on
short notice, so that Leung could not arrive in time to attend. Tr. 1426-27. Leung arranged for
two other E&Y employees to attend, Li Di and Sabrina Uang (Uang). Tr. 1429.

According to Uang, as told to Leung, at the meeting the accounting firms reported on the
demands received from U.S. regulators, and in response the CSRC said that firms are not
allowed to provide work papers directly to foreign regulators and that the foreign regulators
should contact the CSRC. Tr. 1430. The CSRC also said that it would issue a written response
to DTTC, that DTTC was allowed to show that response to foreign regulators, and that the CSRC
would issue a written response to accounting firms that provide a written report to it. Tr. 1430-
31. The firms were warned that providing work papers to foreign regulators without
authorization could result in cancellation of a firm’s license. Tr. 1432.

Leung then consulted with counsel and wrote a report for the CSRC. Tr. 1433-36. He

also wrote a similar report for the MOF, dated October 12, 2011. Tr. 1436-37; Resp. Exs. 19,
19A. In response, the CSRC sent E&Y a copy of Letter 437, which Leung understood to be a
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“directive” from the CSRC and consultation with the MOF. Tr. 1437-41; Resp. Ex. 20. Leung
understood Letter 437 to say, in summary, Chinese accounting firms must abide by Chinese
laws, foreign regulators seeking work papers must contact Chinese regulators, Chinese
accounting firms cannot provide work papers and related documents to overseas regulators
without authorization, and if Chinese accounting firms do, they will be held legally liable. Tr.
1440-41; Resp. Ex. 20. Although Leung identified no substantive differences between Letter
437 and the CSRC’s instructions in July 2011, he viewed Letter 437 as “formal and official.” Tr.
1441-42.

E&Y and Ernst & Young Hong Kong responded to the Commission’s October 5, 2011,
voluntary request, through counsel, by letter dated November 11, 2011. Tr. 274-76; 1444-45;
Div. Ex. 60. The letter stated that both firms “wish to cooperate in this matter” but that Chinese
law precluded them from doing so, and cited to Letter 437. Div. Ex. 60 at 2. A similar letter,
also dated November 11, 2011, was provided to the Board. Tr. 1443-44; Resp. Ex. 21.

In November 2011, the Board sent E&Y a letter regarding legal impediments on
production of work papers. Tr. 1445-46. Leung consulted with counsel, asked to meet with the
CSRC, and wrote a letter to the CSRC. Tr. 1446-47; Resp. Ex. 22. In the letter, dated December
7, 2011, Leung offered to provide the CSRC with its Client C-related work papers, which were
ready to be produced and which E&Y was willing to produce to the Board. Tr. 1447-48, 1453;
Resp. Ex. 22. He met with the CSRC’s chief accountant and one of her deputies on December 8,
2011. Tr. 1449, 1455. They told Leung that Chinese accounting firms were not allowed to
produce work papers directly to foreign regulators without permission, regardless of Chinese
law, so he made no inquiries regarding the State Secrets Law or laws regarding archives. Tr.
1448, 1450-51, 1455, 1528. They did not respond to Leung’s offer to provide the CSRC with its
Client C-related work papers. Tr. 1451.

At about this time, Leung had conversations with the other firms represented at the
October 10, 2011, meeting. Tr. 1453. KPMG advised him that it had inquired with the Chinese
State Secrets Bureau and Archives Bureau, but were told that they would not consider inquiries
from private entities. Tr. 1453-54. He also met with the MOF, which provided guidance similar
to that provided by the CSRC. Tr. 1454.

3. Client C Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Request

Division investigators consulted with OIA, principally with Alberto Arevalo (Arevalo) of
that office, and concluded that a request for assistance to Chinese regulators would not be
fruitful, and that the best course would be to serve a Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request. Tr. 276, 321.
Accordingly, they submitted such a request, via Ernst & Young LLP, on February 2, 2012,
pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley 106, seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other documents related
to any audit work or interim reviews performed for [Client C] for the fiscal year ending
September 30, 2010 and subsequent periods.” Tr. 276-77; Div. Ex. 55; Resp. Ex. 23.

Leung reviewed the request on or about February 2, 2012, and confirmed with other
accounting firms that they had received similar letters. Tr. 1454-57. He also compared the
request to the Board’s ABD, and determined that the ABD was more comprehensive, that is,
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everything requested in the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request is also requested in the Board’s ABD.
Tr. 1457. On February 22, 2012, the Board sent a letter to E&Y’s external counsel, granting
E&Y an extension on the due date for production of the documents requested in the ABD, on the
basis that E&Y “may need the assistance of the relevant Chinese authorities to facilitate
production.” Tr. 1457-58; Resp. Ex. 24 at 1. The letter stated that the Board had reached out to
the CSRC on the issue already. Tr. 1459; Resp. Ex. 24 at 1. It also stated that the Board has
“unequivocal legal authority under Section 105(b)(3) of [Sarbanes-Oxley], to suspend or revoke
the Firm’s registration status” for noncompliance with the Board’s ABD, and that failure to
timely produce documents would result in a recommendation that the Board “institute
disciplinary proceedings against [E&Y] for its failure to cooperate with our investigation.”
Resp. Ex. 24.

Leung consulted with counsel and requested a meeting with the CSRC and other
accounting firms. Tr. 1459. When he met with the CSRC’s chief accountant and her deputy, he
brought with him the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request, and a letter dated February 23, 2012, which
he had prepared to summarize the situation and to once again offer to produce Client C’s work
papers to the CSRC. Tr. 1459-61; Resp. Exs. 25, 25A. Except for Dahua, representatives of the
other Respondents also attended. Tr. 1461. Leung and the other firm representatives reported
receiving the various demands from U.S. regulators, and Leung noted that he sensed an
“escalation” of U.S. regulators’ actions against the firms. Tr. 1463. The CSRC again stated that
Chinese firms are not allowed to provide work papers directly to foreign regulators and that the
foreign regulators should contact the CSRC, and again gave no response when Leung offered to
provide audit work papers to the CSRC. Tr. 1463-64. The four accounting firms also met with
the MOF on the same day, and the meeting was very similar to the one with the CSRC. Tr.
1464.

On March 2, 2012, the Board sent E&Y a letter which stated, in substance, that in view of
the CSRC’s “apparent willingness” to assist in production of the materials requested in the ABD,
the Board intended to disclose to the CSRC the fact that the Board was investigating E&Y and a
detailed description of the materials sought in the ABD. Tr. 1464-65; Resp. Ex. 575 at 1. The
letter also stated, again, that E&Y still had an “obligation to provide requested documents in the
event any such documents are not provided through the CSRC.” Resp. Ex. 575 at 2. Leung
consulted with counsel and wrote a letter to the CSRC reporting the receipt of the Board’s letter
and requesting a meeting with the CSRC. Tr. 1465. No such meeting occurred. Tr. 1465.

E&Y informed Division investigators by telephone on March 19, 2012, that the Board
had issued the ABD. Tr. 339-40; Div. Ex. 56 at 2 n.3. E&Y, through external counsel,
responded to the February 2, 2012, Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request on April 4, 2012. Tr. 277-78,
1465-66; Div. Ex. 56; Resp. Ex. 27. The letter stated that E&Y “wishes to cooperate with the
[Commission] in this matter and to provide the [Commission] with the documents it is seeking.”
Div. Ex. 56 at 1. It also asserted that E&Y would be “held responsible for any production in
violation of [the CSRC’s and the MOF’s] instructions and subject to potentially severe
sanctions.” Div. Ex. 56 at 2. The letter did not forward any audit work papers, identify any
documents containing state secrets, disclose any determination by the Chinese government
regarding state secrets or archives, or describe any efforts by E&Y to obtain approval from the
Chinese government to provide the requested documents. Tr. 277-80.
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Although the Commission ultimately brought a civil enforcement action against Client C,
its chairman, its CEQ, and its former CFO, Division investigators were hampered by the lack of
audit work papers in identifying other possible enforcement targets. Tr. 280, 283; Div. Ex. 57.
Additionally, investigators wanted to find out how E&Y missed certain things in its audit, which
may have resulted in an investigation for improper professional conduct. Tr. 281-82. For
example, Client C’s initial public offering filings indicated that it had obtained all of its drilling
units from a company in Louisiana, but investigators were able to quickly confirm that Client C
had not purchased the number or the value of equipment it claimed. Tr. 281. The fact that Client
C’s auditor missed that fact in its audits struck Peavler as “very unusual.” Tr. 281. The audit
work papers would have shed light on this issue. Tr. 282-83. Also, the lack of audit work papers
prevented the Commission from charging the civil defendants with a violation of Exchange Act
Rule 13b2-2. Tr. 283-84.

The Division submitted a Wells notice to E&Y, through external counsel, on April 27,
2012. Tr. 284; Div. Ex. 142. E&Y sent a Wells submission to the Commission on May 29,
2012. Div. Ex. 150.

4. Client B Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Request

Division investigators sent a request to E&Y, via Emst & Young LLP, on April 26, 2012,
pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley 106, seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other documents related
to any audit work or interim reviews performed for [Client B] for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2010.” Tr. 489; Div. Ex. 46; Resp. Ex. 29. Leung discussed the Sarbanes-Oxley
106 request with counsel and met again with the CSRC’s chief accountant and her deputy in May
2012, to discuss both the Client B Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request and the Client C Wells notice.
Tr. 1466-67. The CSRC again stated that Chinese accounting firms should refer foreign
regulators to Chinese regulators, and not provide work papers directly to foreign regulators. Tr.
1468. Leung again offered to provide work papers to the CSRC, for both Client B and Client C,
but the CSRC did not respond. Tr. 1468-69.

E&Y responded to the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request, through counsel, by letter dated May
25, 2012. Tr. 490; Div. Ex. 47. The response stated that E&Y “wishes to cooperate in this
matter” and “would comply with the Commission’s Section 106 Request . . . if it could do so
without violating [Chinese] law.” Tr. 562-63; Div. Ex. 47 at 1-2. It also summarized its version
of the investigation’s proceedings up to that date, and provided a brief explanation of the
impediments to production under Chinese law. Tr. 563-64; Div. Ex. 47 at 2-7. The response did
not identify any documents containing state secrets or protected archives, describe any
consultations with Client B about state secrets or protected archives, or state that the Chinese
government had determined any documents to be state secrets. Tr. 491-92.

Division investigators sent a Wells notice to E&Y, via external counsel, on June 15,
2012. Tr. 493; Div. Ex. 141. E&Y submitted a Wells response on June 25, 2012, but again did
not produce audit work papers. Tr. 493; Div. Ex. 149. Hubbs has always had full access to audit
work papers in his other investigations. Tr. 493. He opined that the failure to produce E&Y’s
work papers for Client B prevented investigators from unearthing “a good amount of evidence”
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pertaining to the allegations E&Y made regarding Client B. Tr. 492. In particular, it prevented
investigators from testing any of the issues raised in E&Y’s 10A Letter. Tr. 573.

5. Recent Events

In December 2012, after the OIP was issued and received by E&Y, E&Y contacted the
other Respondents, and after consulting with legal counsel, a meeting was arranged with the
CSRC. Tr. 1469. As Leung remembers it, sometime in December 2012 E&Y attended a
meeting with representatives of the MOF, the CSRC, and the other Respondents, at which the
Respondents reported on the present proceeding, including its potential consequences. Tr. 1469-
71. The CSRC reiterated its previous position, but also said that it needed to deliberate on the
matter. Tr. 1470. Leung thereafter consulted with counsel. Tr. 1471. He intended at that time
to provide work papers to the Commission if permitted to do so by Chinese regulators. Tr. 1471.

On May 10, 2013, the Board, the MOF, and the CSRC executed a “Memorandum of
Understanding on Enforcement Cooperation” (MOUEC), which sets forth the parties’ “intent
with regard to mutual assistance and the exchange of information for the purpose of enforcing
and securing compliance with” the parties’ respective laws. Tr. 1472; Resp. Ex. 274 at 1. Leung
read the MOUEC at approximately the time it became public, and discussed it with the other
Respondents. Tr. 1472-73. In early June 2013, the five Respondents met with representatives of
the MOF and the CSRC, and urged the CSRC to respond as soon as possible in the event the
Board made any request under the MOUEC. Tr. 1473-74. The CSRC informed Respondents
that it had received requests already from both the Board and the Commission. Tr. 1474.
Specifically, the CSRC told Leung that it had received a Board request regarding Client C. Tr.
1474. Leung urged the CSRC to issue a “notice” to E&Y as soon as possible, so that E&Y could
produce the work papers, and the CSRC agreed to do so. Tr. 1474.

About two weeks after the early June meeting, the CSRC arranged another meeting with
Respondents, except for DTTC, as well as a representative of the MOF’s Supervision and
Investigation Bureau. Tr. 1475. The CSRC spelled out a new procedure for screening the firm’s
work papers for state secrets and other sensitive information, which included the hiring of an
external law firm to assist in the screening process. Tr. 1476. This procedure was to be used to
produce work papers to the CSRC. Tr. 1476. Leung was told that the new procedure had been
approved by the State Council of China. Tr. 1476-77.

Leung discussed the new procedure with counsel, and instructed E&Y staff to follow up
every few days with the CSRC so that they could get any CSRC notice as soon as possible. Tr.
1477. On July 3, 2013, E&Y received a notice from the CSRC to produce Client C’s work
papers, pursuant to a request from the Board dated May 22, 2013. Tr. 1477-78; Resp. Exs. 632,
632A. The Board’s May 22, 2013, request is substantively identical to its October 7, 2011,
ABD. Tr. 1478; Resp. Exs. 574, 632. E&Y then retained external counsel and started work on
the screening process, and delivered the required documents to the CSRC, consisting of four
boxes, on July 22, 2013, the day Leung testified. Tr. 1479-81, 1589; Resp. Exs. 649, 649A.
Documents identified by the external law firm as containing state secrets were redacted, although
that did not have a major impact on the audit work papers. Tr. 1481-82. Leung told Leali that
Client B’s work papers are also with the CSRC. Tr. 1762-63.
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Leung opined that a revocation of the privilege of practicing before the Commission
would deprive E&Y of the opportunity to serve a market that it has put resources into. Tr. 1488.
It would also bar the EY Global Network from serving the Chinese market. Tr. 1488. Although
he stated that E&Y “did not have the choice” to provide work papers directly to the Commission,
and that “there wasn’t a decision,” he also agreed that E&Y “decided that it would not send those
documents directly” to the U.S. Tr. 1522-23, 1557-58. The decision not to provide work papers
was made between Leung and senior management, in consultation with counsel. Tr. 1523.

C. KPMG

KPMG is an accounting firm established in 1992 as a joint venture between KPMG Hong
Kong and Huazhen, a Chinese firm. Tr. 1904-05. The joint venture agreement lapsed in August
2012, and KPMG is now a special general partnership, which is an arrangement similar to a
limited liability partnership under U.S. law. Tr. 1905. KPMG has no offices or employees
outside of China. Tr. 1905-06. Two persons testified for KPMG, Isaac Yan (Yan) and
Jacqueline Wong (J. Wong). Tr. 1903, 2133. Yan has been a chartered accountant in England
and Wales since 1988 and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants for over ten years. Tr. 1904, 1930. He started at KPMG Hong Kong in 1988 and
moved to KPMG in 2000. Tr. 1931. Yan is currently KPMG’s quality and risk management
partner for China. Tr. 1903. He works in Beijing and his job mainly involves protecting KPMG
from risk, and there are five units within his department: regulatory and public affairs, regulatory
filing, practice protection, contracting, and central policy. Tr. 1903-04, 1930. J. Wong has a
bachelor of commerce degree from the University of British Columbia and a graduate diploma
from McGill University. Tr. 2133. She is a chartered accountant under the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants, and the equivalent under the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Tr. 2133. She started at KPMG Hong Kong in 1997 as an assistant manager in
auditing, transferred to advisory in 1999, and transferred to quality and risk management in
2003. Tr. 2133-34. J. Wong is now a partner at KPMG Hong Kong and reports to the country
risk management partner. Tr. 2133-34. She also reports to KPMG personnel on a project-by-
project basis, including to Yan. Tr. 2197-98. KPMG Hong Kong’s quality and risk management
department ensures that quality controls are in place and complied with, and it is responsible for
regulatory compliance, reporting, and registration. Tr. 2135. This includes responding to
regulatory requests. Tr. 2142-43.

KPMG performs primarily auditing and some advisory services. Tr. 1905. Its clients
include public companies listed on stock exchanges in Hong Kong, China, Canada, Singapore,
Korea, and the U.S. Tr. 1906. It mainly performs substantial role audits, that is, auditing of the
Chinese operations of companies that may be headquartered elsewhere, where the Chinese
operations equate to twenty percent or more of overall revenues or assets. Tr. 1907, 2138; Resp.
Ex. 517 at 6-13. In 2004, KPMG had 1,002 employees. Tr. 2142. As of 2012, it had between
20 and 25 clients, 3,425 total employees, 3,071 accountants, and 587 CPAs or CPA-equivalents,
and had offices in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, and Shenzhen. Tr. 2141-42; Resp. Ex. 517 at
14-18. KPMG’s growth was the result of investment in business, infrastructure, and people. Tr.
2142. KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong are member firms of KPMG International. Tr. 2136.
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KPMG is regulated in China by the MOF, CSRC, and Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (CICPA). Tr. 1904, 1908. The MOF and CSRC grant licenses to firms
wishing to perform audit work in China. Tr. 1908. The CSRC is “something like” the Chinese
equivalent of the Commission. Tr. 1908. KPMG is licensed by both the MOF and the CSRC.
Tr. 1908. The CICPA licenses and qualifies individuals to be CPAs. Tr. 1908. The MOF,
CSRC, and CICPA inspect KPMG yearly on a rotating basis and review license renewal
applications. Tr. 1908-09. KPMG, mainly represented by Yan, meets with its regulators as
needed. Tr. 1909. KPMG considers instructions from its regulators to be “very important.” Tr.
1910. The possible consequences of disobeying its regulators include license suspension, license
revocation, public and private reprimands, monitoring, and penalties. Tr. 1910-11. Audit work
papers generated in mainland China must now be maintained in mainland China, even when the
auditor is based somewhere else; for example, when KPMG Hong Kong audits a client in
mainland China without using a component auditor, its work papers stay in mainland China. Tr.
2203-05. KPMG Hong Kong is authorized to audit clients in mainland China, including U.S.
issuers, by virtue of a temporary license granted by the MOF for five years. Tr. 2200-01.

KPMG registered with the Board in 2004. Tr. 1402-03. KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong
are organized separately under their respective country’s laws, although KPMG Hong Kong is
responsible for registering both KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong and filing KPMG’s annual
PCAOB reports. Tr. 2136-37, 2141. KPMG did not sign the “Consent to Cooperate With the
Board and Statement of Acceptance of Registration Condition” in its PCAOB Form 1. Tr. 2139;
Resp. Ex. 513 at 16. KPMG’s lack of consent was based upon an April 16, 2004, letter from
Century-Link, which opined that Chinese law prevented KPMG from complying with PCAOB
testimony and document requests. Tr. 2139; Resp. Ex. 513 at 213. KPMG was aware at the time
it registered that production of documents to U.S. regulators could result in civil and criminal
penalties. Tr. 2236-37; Resp. Ex. 513 at 215-16. The Board accepted KPMG’s application,
acknowledged that it had withheld consent to cooperate, and told KPMG that it was obligated to
follow U.S. law. Tr. 2140; Resp. Ex. 544, Attachment 1. In its 2010, 2011, and 2012 annual
reports to the Board, KPMG declined to affirm that it consented to cooperate with Board
investigations, but also disclosed that it had performed substantial role audit work for twenty-
four, twenty-three, and twenty-five U.S. issuers, respectively, for all of which KPMG was paid.
Tr. 2243-44; Resp. Ex. 514 at 7-12, 22; Resp. Ex. 516 at 7-12, 22; Resp. Ex. 517 at 7-13, 23. In
February 2011, KPMG was a “foreign public accounting firm” as that term is defined in
Sarbanes-Oxley. Tr. 2247. On February 25, 2011, KPMG designated KPMG LLP, the U.S.
KPMG affiliate, as its agent for service of Sarbanes-Oxley 106 requests. Tr. 2250; Div. Ex. 165-
A at 16.

1. Client D Investigation

Client D, a former client of KPMG, is a biodiesel producer located predominantly in
mainland China and incorporated in Delaware. Tr. 2145; Div. Ex. 62 at 2. It also distributes fuel
and has an interest in gas stations in China. Tr. 738. It engaged KPMG in December 2010 as a
component auditor on its consolidated audit for the year ending December 31, 2010, with KPMG
Hong Kong as the principal auditor. Tr. 2145. KPMG was responsible for more than ninety
percent of the audit work. Tr. 2145-46. KPMG played a substantial role in this audit. Tr. 1934,
2226-27. The work papers generated in connection with the engagement are maintained in
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mainland China. Tr. 2146. Client D’s shares are registered with the Commission and were
traded on NASDAQ until Client D was delisted in April or May 2011. Tr. 738.

Shortly after Client D’s audit opinion issued in mid-March 2011, short seller reports
appeared. Tr. 2146. Either KPMG or KPMG Hong Kong reported this fact to the audit
committee chairman and requested a special investigation. Tr. 2146-47. The special
investigation did not proceed as expected, the investigating law firm and the audit chairman
resigned, and KPMG resigned in April or May 2011. Tr. 742, 2146-47.

Leslie Kazon (Kazon) began working for the Commission in 1990, and since 1999 she
has been an assistant director of the Division in the Commission’s New York regional office. Tr.
735-36. She conducts and supervises investigations into federal securities laws violations, and to
a lesser extent, litigation arising out of investigations. Tr. 736. She supervised the investigation
of Client D from its onset until the initiation of the present proceeding. Tr. 736-37.

The investigation of Client D was prompted by two short seller reports which came out in
March 2011. Tr. 739-40; Div. Exs. 64, 65. The specific allegations were that Client D had
reported cash on its balance sheet that it did not possess, and that it had acquired a biodiesel plant
in a related party transaction which had not been reported as such, and in which the plant’s
revenues had been overstated. Tr. 739. The investigators subpoenaed and received documents
from Client D, received presentations from its counsel, and interviewed the head of its audit
committee. Tr. 740. Kazon does not remember which documents investigators received from
Client D, or the number of such documents. Tr. 740-41. J. Wong is not aware of any person at
Client D who was sanctioned for providing documents to SEC investigators. Tr. 2270-71.

KPMG Hong Kong signed Client D’s audit opinion, but KPMG conducted all or
substantially all of the audit. Tr. 741. The audit report was filed with Client D’s form 10-K. Tr.
741-42. Work papers are traditionally requested in financial fraud investigations because they
provide a roadmap of the client’s business and internal controls, and identify relevant witnesses,
customers, and third parties who can confirm transactions. Tr. 743. The investigators therefore
issued a broad voluntary request for documents, including work papers and engagement
documents, to KPMG Hong Kong. Tr. 743-44. They sent the request to KPMG Hong Kong’s
U.S. counsel on March 30, 2011. Tr. 744-45; Div. Ex. 297.

KPMG Hong Kong, by letter dated April 6, 2011, informed investigators that it would
not comply with the voluntary request based on Chinese law and the fact that the requested
documents were located in mainland China. Tr. 746-47; Div. Ex. 299. The investigators did not
consider KPMG Hong Kong’s letter sufficiently specific regarding the barriers to production
posed by Chinese law, and sent a follow-up letter to KMPG Hong Kong dated May 4, 2011. Tr.
747-48; Div. Ex. 301. KPMG Hong Kong responded by letter dated May 11, 2011, in which it
reiterated the contents of its April 6, 2011, letter, referred investigators to a Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) between the SEC and the CSRC, and indicated that it would respond to
any request from its local regulator “as appropriate.” Tr. 749-50; Div. Ex. 303.

In the meantime, investigators issued a subpoena on May 4, 2011, to KPMG LLP,
seeking, among other items, “[a]ll working papers” relating to the audit of Client D’s 2010
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financial statements in the possession of any KPMG affiliate. Tr. 751-52; Div. Ex. 302 at 4, 7.
Although investigators received some documents in response, they did not receive any work
papers of KPMG or KPMG Hong Kong. Tr. 753. Investigators also requested assistance from
the Hong Kong securities commission in the production of audit work papers and related
materials. Tr. 753. Investigators received a response, which was apparently a communication
from a KPMG affiliate to the Hong Kong securities commission, reiterating KPMG Hong
Kong’s previously articulated position, that responsive documents were in mainland China and
could not be produced because of Chinese law. Tr. 753. Investigators considered making a
request for assistance to the CSRC, but after consulting with OIA determined that it would likely
not be successful. Tr. 757-58. KPMG is prepared to produce audit work papers for Client D to a
local regulator. Tr.2157.

2. Client E Investigation

Client E, a former client of KPMG, is a petrochemical producer located in Ningbo,
China, and incorporated in Nevada as of April 2012, Tr. 167, 2147-48; Div. Ex. 70 at 3. It
engaged KPMG in January 2011 as a component auditor of its consolidated audit for the year
ending December 31, 2010, with KPMG Hong Kong as the principal auditor. Tr. 175-76, 2147-
48; Resp. Ex. 516 at 9. Client E’s previous auditor, Patrizio & Zhao, LLC (Patrizio & Zhao), a
firm located in Parsippany, New Jersey, issued unqualified audit opinions for 2008 and 2009.*
Tr. 176, 204; Resp. Ex. 521 at 2-3. KPMG was responsible for more than ninety percent of the
audit work. Tr. 2148. KPMG played a substantial role in this audit. Tr. 1934, 2227. The work
papers generated in connection with the engagement are maintained in mainland China. Tr.
2148. Client E’s shares are registered with the Commission, were traded on NASDAQ between
2010 and 2011, and are currently traded over the counter. Tr. 167.

During the audit of Client E, the audit team identified seven “issues and discrepancies.”
Tr. 172-73, 2147-48; Div. Ex. 77. The audit team reported its concerns to the audit committee
chairman and requested an investigation. Tr. 2148; Div. Ex. 77 at 18-19. The investigation did
not proceed as expected, and KPMG resigned on May 24, 2011, without completing the audit.
Tr. 2147-48; Div. Ex. 293.

* On September 18, 2013, I issued an order closing the record in this proceeding. BDO China
Dahua CPA Co., Itd., Admin. Proc. Rulings Release No. 882 (Sept. 18, 2013). Shortly
thereafter, the Commission issued an OIP in a settled case against Patrizio & Zhao. Patrizio &
Zhao LLC, Exchange Act Release No. 70562 (Sept. 30, 2013). I have taken official notice of
Patrizio & Zhao. The OIP found that, in auditing Client E’s 2008 and 2009 financial statements
and reviewing Client E’s financial statements for the first three quarters of 2010, Patrizio & Zhao
had failed to comply with PCAOB standards, engaged in improper professional conduct, and
caused Client E to commit disclosure and reporting violations. Id. at 2-3. Patrizio & Zhao
consented to revocation of the privilege of practicing before the Commission with the right to
reapply after three years, and a $30,000 civil penalty, among other sanctions. Id. at 13-14.
Patrizio & Zhao consented to entry of the OIP against it, without admitting or denying the OIP’s
findings. Id. at 2.
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Fuad Rana (Rana) began working for the Commission in January 2011 and is now a
senior counsel with the Division. Tr. 165. He conducts investigations into possible violations of
federal securities laws. Tr. 165-66. Before coming to the Commission he spent six years in
private practice, specializing in litigation and white collar work, and served as a federal law
clerk. Tr. 166. He was the Commission’s principal investigator of Client E. Tr. 166.

The Commission opened its investigation of Client E in April 2011 when Client E filed a
form 8-K indicating that it would not be able to file its annual form 10-K on time. Tr. 168, 206.
The stated reason was that its auditors, KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong, had identified
“unexplained issues regarding certain cash transactions and recorded sales.” Tr. 168; Div. Ex. 71
at 3. The investigation focused on fiscal years 2008, 2009, and 2010, because investigators had
reason to believe that Client E had failed to make certain disclosures during those years. Tr. 170.
This belief was apparently based on a draft of a March 28, 2011, letter from KPMG to Client E’s
audit committee chairman, which outlined KPMG’s concerns, and a memorandum from certain
corporate officers to Client E’s audit committee, responding to KPMG. Tr. 171-73; Div. Exs.
77, 78. Investigators issued subpoenas to various persons and entities, including Client E and its
auditors. Tr. 174. Client E produced internal emails, financial records, its general ledger, and
other documents relating to the issues raised in KPMG’s draft letter to Client E’s audit
committee chairman. Tr. 174.

Rana considered it “extremely important” that investigators review KPMG’s audit work
papers, because it was KPMG that initially identified the issues leading to the termination of its
engagement. Tr. 180, 192-93. KPMG’s U.S. counsel would not accept a subpoena but was
willing to accept a voluntary production request. Tr. 178. Rana accordingly sent a voluntary
request for documents, including work papers, to KPMG’s U.S. counsel on April 28, 2011,
pertaining to both KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong. Tr. 178-79; Div. Ex. 287. J. Wong saw the
voluntary request at about the time it was sent. Tr. 2151. KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong, by
letters dated April 29, 2011, the following day, informed investigators that they would not
comply with the voluntary request based on Chinese law and the fact that the requested
documents were located in mainland China. Tr. 179-80; Div. Ex. 289. The letters are
substantively identical to the one KPMG Hong Kong sent twenty-three days earlier regarding
Client D. Div. Exs. 289, 299. Rana was not satisfied with this response and sent two follow-up
letters dated May 6, 2011, one which requested clarification of KPMG’s refusal to voluntarily
produce documents, and one which requested that KMPG and KPMG Hong Kong preserve all
relevant documents. Tr. 180-81; Div. Exs. 290, 291. J. Wong saw the first follow-up letter at
about the time it was sent. Tr. 2153-54. KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong responded by letter
dated May 17, 2011, in which they reiterated the contents of their April 29, 2011, letters, referred
investigators to the MOU, and indicated that they would respond to any request from their local
regulators “as appropriate.” Tr. 181-82; Div. Ex. 292. KPMG is prepared to produce audit work
papers for Client E to a local regulator. Tr. 2157.

On May 10, 2011, Rana issued a subpoena to KPMG LLP, seeking, among other things,
“all working papers relating to any audit or review” of Client E in the possession of KPMG LLP
and its non-U.S. affiliates. Tr. 183-84; Div. Ex. 288 at 5, 8. KPMG LLP produced
approximately 724 pages of documents in response, related to a U.S. tax law issue, but it did not
produce any of KPMG’s audit work papers. Tr. 185-86; Div. Exs. 294, 295. In parallel with the
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subpoena activity, investigators consulted with OIA and determined that a request for assistance
directed to the CSRC was “not likely to yield any success.” Tr. 182-83, 186-87, 222. Rana is
unaware of any request for assistance directed to the PCAOB, it is not his practice to seek such
assistance, and he would consider such a practice “highly unusual.” Tr. 224, 228-29.

Investigators issued a subpoena to Patrizio & Zhao, which produced at least 3,000 pages
of work papers and other documents between July 21, 2011, and August 24, 2012. Tr. 189-90;
Div. Exs. 321-23. Based on his review of documents and testimony, Rana understood that
Patrizio & Zhao conducted their audits with the assistance of individuals located in China. Tr.
190. Patrizio & Zhao raised no concerns about state secrets or archival material. Tr. 190-91.
Investigators also issued a subpoena to GHP Horwath, P.C. (GHP Horwath), an accounting firm
based in Denver, Colorado, which completed Client E’s audit for 2010, and on November 17,
2011, GHP Horwath produced a laptop containing its complete audit binder for 2010 and review
binders for two quarters of 2011. Tr. 191, 206; Div. Ex. 320. Rana does not recall GHP
Horwath raising concerns about state secrets or archival material. Tr. 192. Rana understood that

GHP Horwath’s work papers were prepared in China and transmitted electronically to the U.S.
Tr. 206.

3. PCAOB Investigation

On June 15, 2011, KPMG received an ABD from the PCAOB related to Clients D and F,
seeking “[a]ll work papers.” Tr. 2157; Resp. Ex. 535 at 7. J. Wong saw the ABD at about the
time it was sent, and it was the first ABD KPMG had received from the PCAOB. Tr. 2158.
KPMG responded through outside counsel by letter dated June 28, 2011. Tr. 2158; Resp. Ex.
536. The June 28, 2011, letter did not explicitly decline to respond to the ABD; instead, it
referred the PCAOB to the Commission staff investigating Client D, and suggested that the
PCAOB deal directly with the CSRC regarding Client F-related documents. Resp. Ex. 536. The
PCAOB sought clarification of KPMG’s position by letter dated June 30, 2011. Resp. Ex. 537.
On July 26, 2011, KPMG sent the PCAOB a “lengthy” letter, in which it explained that it was
unable but not unwilling to produce the documents requested by the ABD. Tr. 2162-63; Resp.
Ex. 542. The July 26, 2011, letter included several attachments and a disc containing
approximately 11,000 pages of documents responsive to two items of the ABD, neither of which
pertained to audit work papers. Tr. 2166; Resp. Ex. 542. The PCAOB responded on October 3,
2011, with its equivalent of a Wells notice, that is, a letter notifying KPMG that the PCAOB’s
Division of Enforcement and Investigations intended to recommend initiation of a disciplinary
proceeding against KPMG. Tr. 1912, 2165-66; Resp. Ex. 544.

KPMG sought guidance regarding the ABD from the CSRC and the MOF, by letters
dated July 20, 2011.° Tr. 2158, 2160; Resp. Ex. 539 at 7-12. After receiving the PCAOB’s
October 3, 2011, letter, KPMG again sought guidance from the CSRC by email dated October 4,
2011. Tr. 1913-14, 2166; Div. Exs. 333, 333-A. It also sought consent from Clients D and F, by
letters dated July 21, 2011, to produce the requested documents. Tr. 2163-64; Resp. Exs. 540,

3 J. Wong viewed this request for guidance as a request for permission to produce the documents.
Tr. 2208, 2212. However, there is nothing in the July 20, 2011, letters explicitly seeking such
permission. Resp. Ex. 539.
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541. Client D responded that KPMG should consult with its own counsel, and Client F did not
respond. Tr. 2164-65; Resp. Ex. 543.

KPMG provided the PCAOB a statement of position, by letter dated October 24, 2011, in
response to the PCAOB’s October 3, 2011, letter. Resp. Ex. 550. By letter dated February 22,
2012, the PCAOB provided KPMG an April 23, 2012, deadline by which to make arrangements
with Chinese regulators to produce the requested documents. Tr. 2183; Resp. Ex. 550. The
PCAOB also requested the CSRC’s assistance, and provided certain information to the CSRC,
which would otherwise presumably have been confidential, to facilitate that assistance. Resp.
Exs. 550, 552. In May 2013, the PCAOB and the CSRC signed the MOUEC. Tr. 2191.

4. Client F Investigation

Client F, a former client of KPMG, is a chemical manufacturer located in mainland China
and incorporated in Nevada as of March 2011. Tr. 785-86, 2150; Div. Ex. 81. It engaged
KPMG in October or November 2008 as a component auditor of its consolidated audit for the
year ending December 31, 2008, with KPMG Hong Kong as the principal auditor. Tr. 788,
2149-50. KPMG was responsible for more than ninety percent of the audit work. Tr. 2283. The
engagement continued until 2011, and KPMG Hong Kong issued unqualified opinions for fiscal
years 2008 and 2009. Tr. 790-91. KPMG played a substantial role in the fiscal year 2009 audit.
Tr. 1934. The work papers generated in connection with the engagement are maintained in
mainland China. Tr. 2150. Client F’s shares were registered with the Commission until the fall
of 2012, when Client F voluntarily deregistered them; they were traded on NASDAQ between
2007 and 2011, were quoted for a time thereafter on the OTC Bulletin Board, and they are
currently not traded. Tr. 786-87.

During the 2010 audit of Client F, the audit team identified certain issues. Tr. 2149-50.
The audit team reported its concerns to the audit committee chairman and requested an
investigation. Tr. 2150. The investigation did not proceed as expected, and KPMG resigned in
April or May 2011, without completing the audit. Tr. 791, 2150.

Roger Boudreau (Boudreau) began working for the Commission in 1986 and is currently
a senior accountant in the Los Angeles regional office. Tr. 783-84. He investigates public
companies and performs other work as needed, including analyzing Ponzi schemes. Tr. 784. He
has worked on “many cases” of accounting fraud since 1986. Tr. 784. He was the
Commission’s primary investigator of Client F. Tr. 785.

Boudreau first received documents from Client F’s audit committee, including a copy of
KPMG’s letter outlining the issues it had identified during its audit of Client F’s 2010 financial
statements. Tr. 788-89. These issues included difficulty confirming cash, vendor issues, and an
issue with revenue relating to Client F’s second largest customer. Tr. 788. Boudreau then sent a
production request to Client F, which produced “many thousands of pages” from two of Client
F’s directors, who were in the U.S. and who produced documents possibly located or created in
the U.S. Tr. 789, 804, 818. Client F did not withhold any documents on the ground that their
production violated Chinese law, nor did Client F assert that any documents contained state
secrets, to Boudreau’s recollection. Tr. 789-90.
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As part of the investigation, Boudreau sought audit work papers because they may
contain memoranda documenting problems at the client, document testing performed, and record
interviews of and representations from management. Tr. 792. On August 23, 2011, Boudreau
sent a voluntary request for documents, including audit work papers for fiscal years 2008
through 2010, to KPMG Hong Kong’s counsel. Tr. 793; Div. Ex. 86. He did not know at the
time that KPMG had any role in Client F’s audits. Tr. 793. KPMG Hong Kong, by letter dated
September 6, 2011, informed him that it would not comply with the voluntary request based on
Chinese law and the fact that the requested documents were located in mainland China. Tr. 794;
Div. Ex. 87. The letter is more detailed than the ones KPMG Hong Kong sent investigators
regarding Clients D and E. Div. Exs. 87, 289, 299. In particular, it referred Boudreau to the
MOU and to the investigators of Client D, and stated that KPMG Hong Kong was preserving
relevant documents. Div. Ex. 87. Boudreau does not know if investigators responded to KPMG
Hong Kong’s September 6, 2011, letter; Boudreau did not personally respond, although he
participated in a telephone call with KPMG Hong Kong’s counsel. Tr. 814, 816. Boudreau had
“several discussions” with OIA, but eventually did not make a request through Chinese
regulators because other Commission investigators had been unable to obtain work papers
through that route. Tr. 795-96.

5. KPMG’s Consultation With Chinese Regulators

CSRC and MOF officials agreed to meet with KPMG after receiving KPMG’s October 4,
2011, email concerning the PCAOB’s intent to initiate disciplinary proceedings. Tr. 2166-67.
The first meeting took place at the CSRC’s offices on Sunday, October 9, 2011, and was
attended by CSRC officials, Yan, Len Jui (Jui), who heads KPMG’s regulatory and public affairs
unit, and Belinda Tian (Tian), another KPMG partner. Tr. 1913-14, 2167-68. Jui reports to Yan.
Tr. 2017. Jui explained his understanding of the PCAOB’s October 3, 2011, letter, requested
guidance from the CSRC, and did most of the talking; the CSRC officials did not answer
KPMG’s questions directly. Tr. 1914-15, 2167-68. The meeting lasted twenty to thirty minutes.
Tr. 1914,

Another meeting took place the next day, October 10, 2011, at CSRC headquarters. Tr.
1915. A request went out in the morning for a meeting in the afternoon. Tr. 1915, 2168.
Attendees included at least one official from the CSRC and MOF, and representatives of Dahua,
E&Y, DTTC, PwC, Grant Thornton, and KPMG, with KPMG represented by Yan and Tian. Tr.
1915, 1945, 2168-69. The accounting firms briefed the CSRC and MOF regarding the requests
they had received and their responses, which included whether each accounting firm had
produced any work papers to overseas regulators. Tr. 1915-16. The CSRC and MOF stated that
any work papers production would be in accordance with Chinese law, any overseas regulator
seeking work papers should go through Chinese regulators, and any firm violating those two
directives “may face severe consequences,” including license revocation. Tr. 1916. The
accounting firms requested permission to produce documents, and the CSRC and MOF told them
to put their requests in writing. Tr. 1916-17.

On October 12, 2011, KPMG hand delivered a letter to the CSRC seeking “directions”

from the CSRC regarding whether KPMG was “allowed to produce the audit work papers” of
Clients D and F to the PCAOB. Tr. 1917, 2172; Resp. Ex. 545. Later that day, Jui sent an email
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to Li Haijun (Haijun), who is “someone senior at the CSRC,” forwarding a marked-up version of
Letter 413. Tr. 2026-27, 2172-73; Div. Exs. 335, 335-A. The attendees at the October 10, 2011,
meeting received copies of Letter 413, most likely by email from DTTC; the CSRC would not
give such a letter to a third party, and indeed, normally gives only oral guidance. Tr. 2037,
2215-17,2282. Jui sent the marked-up version of Letter 413 (apparently without informing his
supervisor, Yan, beforehand), because Jui believed his proposed edit would make Letter 413
more consistent with his understanding of the directives provided at the October 10, 2011,
meeting. Tr. 1919, 1979, 2029-30, 2032-33, 2176, 2216. Yan did not specifically recall, but
believed that he briefed Jui on the CSRC’s directives at the October 10, 2011, meeting. Tr.
2046. Jui’s proposed edit was to add a clause to the second paragraph of Letter 413 to the effect
that audit work papers produced by accounting firms “should be approved by the corresponding
legal procedures as well as the relevant authorities.” Tr. 2028-29; Div. Exs. 335, 335-A. The
CSRC sometimes, but not not frequently, accepts such proposed edits from regulated firms. Tr.
1982.

The CSRC responded to KPMG’s October 12, 2011, letter by its own letter dated October
17, 2011 (Letter 422), which did not include Jui’s proposed edit. Tr. 1919-20, 2177-78; Resp.
Exs. 546, 546-A. Yan viewed Letter 422 as consistent with the oral directives provided at the
October 10, 2011, meeting, but less bluntly worded; in particular, Letter 422 did not mention that
a serious case may result in license revocation. Tr. 1919-20, 1954, 1956. That is, Jui’s proposed
edit was not related to what Yan considered to be the portion of Letter 422 that was less bluntly
worded than the CSRC’s oral directives. Yan’s understanding of the CSRC’s directives was that
KPMG was not allowed to produce documents to U.S. regulators. Tr. 1920. He considered the
instruction “not to produce documents directly to the overseas regulator” to be “quite clear” even
in Letter 422. Tr. 1955-56. He understood the final paragraph of Letter 422 as stating that
KPMG needed “appropriate permission” from its regulator to produce audit work papers, and it
did not have such permission. Tr. 1963.

Sometime in late 2011, KPMG sought guidance regarding its Client E and F work papers
from the Chinese State Secrets Bureau and Archives Bureau, which both informed KPMG that it
could not deal with those Bureaus directly. Tr. 2178-79, 2221. KPMG so informed the CSRC
by letter dated February 24, 2012, and the CSRC confirmed that KPMG could not deal directly
with the State Secrets Bureau and Archives Bureau. Tr. 2179-80; Resp. Ex. 551. J. Wong
understands that only the State Secrets Bureau or another Chinese government authority can
make the decision that a particular document contains state secrets. Tr. 2259.

6. Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Requests

In early February 2012, the three Division investigative teams submitted requests
pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley 106, via KPMG LLP, seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other
documents related to any audit work or interim reviews.” Tr. 194 (Client E), 754 (Client D), 797
(Client F); Div. Exs. 66, 73; see also Div. Ex. 84 (“All audit work papers and all other
documents related to any audit reports issued, audit work performed, or interim reviews
conducted.”). As to Client D, the request was dated February 6, 2012, and sought documents for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010. Div. Ex. 66. As to Client E, the request was dated
February 9, 2012, sought documents for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, and was
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addressed to both KPMG and KPMG Hong Kong. Div. Ex. 73. As to Client F, the request was
dated February 3, 2012, sought documents from January 1, 2008, to the present, and was
addressed to “KPMG LLP as designated agent.” Div. Ex. 84. The Commission authorized the
Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request as to Client D.” Tr. 763-64.

In response, Jui had “various exchanges” with Chinese regulators, including a February
24, 2012, meeting with the CSRC and MOF. Tr. 1920-21, 2182-83, 2185; Resp. Exs. 553, 556 at
7. Jui reported to Yan that the CSRC’s guidance was unchanged. Tr. 1920-21, 1985-86. KPMG
sent a consolidated response to all three Sarbanes-Oxley 106 requests by letter dated March 27,
2012. Tr. 2185; Div. Ex. 74; Resp. Ex. 556. The letter stated KPMG’s position that it was
unable but not unwilling to produce the requested documents, recited the various actions KPMG
had taken to attempt to comply with the Commission’s requests, and suggested that production
via the MOU would be an acceptable alternative means of production within the meaning of
Sarbanes-Oxley 106(f). Tr. 2186-91; Div. Ex. 74; Resp. Ex. 556. The letter also quoted from an
April 27, 2011, letter from the Commission’s Chairman at the time, Mary Schapiro (Chairman
Schapiro), to Congress. Div. Ex. 74 at 18. The letter stated that, with respect to China, the
Commission “generally work[s] with the jurisdiction’s home regulator to pursue [its]
enforcement aims.” Div. Ex. 74 at 18 (quoting Ltr. from SEC Chairman Mary L. Schapiro to
Hon. Patrick T. McHenry, Chairman of the Subcomm. on TARP, Fin. Servs., & Bailouts of Pub.
and Private Programs, Comm. on Oversight and Gov’t Reform, at 6-7 (Apr. 27, 2011) (Schapiro
Letter)).

No audit work papers have been produced pertaining to Client D, which stymied the
investigation. Tr. 755, 759. In particular, investigators were unable to adequately investigate the
allegations regarding cash and biodiesel plant revenue. Tr. 759. The investigation is currently
“on hold.” Tr. 759.

No audit work papers have been produced pertaining to Client E, which frustrated the
investigation. Tr. 199. The Commission filed a settled action against Client E and its chief
financial officer in federal district court in February 2013, but other potential violations could
have been investigated had the audit work papers been produced. Tr. 200-01; Div. Ex. 76.

No audit work papers have been produced pertaining to Client F, which frustrated the
investigation. Tr. 797, 799. The investigation is still “technically open,” but inactive. Tr. 799-
800.

The Division issued a consolidated Wells notice to KPMG, as to all three Clients, on May
2,2012, Tr.201; Div. Ex. 143.

7. Recent Events

Sometime between December 2012, when the OIP issued, and June 2013, possibly on
December 31, 2012, representatives of all Respondents met with the CSRC and MOF to discuss

® This is likely true of all Sarbanes-Oxley 106 requests in this proceeding, but there is no record
evidence of Commission authorization except as to Client D and DTTC Client A (see infra).
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the present proceeding. Tr. 1922, 1965. The position of the CSRC and MOF was unchanged.
Tr. 1922-23.

On June 4, 2013, representatives of all Respondents, including Yan for KPMG, met with
the CSRC and MOF to discuss the present proceeding, in particular, to discuss it in light of the
announced hearing date and to find out if the recent MOUEC changed anything. Tr. 1923, 2191-
92. The CSRC and MOF told the accounting firms that they “just have to wait for instruction”
from the CSRC and MOF. Tr. 1924. Approximately two weeks later, Tian attended a meeting
with the CSRC, where the CSRC stated that a protocol had been developed for producing audit
work papers to the CSRC, which would forward them to overseas regulators. Tr. 1925. The
protocol has three elements: (1) the accounting firm must redact all documents itself, to remove
state secrets or other sensitive information; (2) the accounting firm must hire a Chinese attorney
to certify that the accounting firm followed protocol; and (3) the accounting firm must ask its
client to certify that the accounting firm’s work is proper. Tr. 1925-26; Resp. Exs. 650, 650-A.
J. Wong attended one of the two June 2013 meetings and learned for the first time that the
Commission had not sought assistance from the CSRC in the production of KPMG’s audit work
papers. Tr.2191-92.

In accordance with the new protocol, the CSRC informed KPMG by letter dated July 19,
2013 (five days before Yan testified), that it was sending two individuals to KPMG to start the
document screening process for Clients D and F.” Tr. 1926; Resp. Ex. 650, 650-A. Yan
understands that this was in response to the PCAOB ABDs. Tr. 1926. KPMG is currently
conducting the screening process in accordance with the CSRC’s protocol. Tr. 1927, 2192.

Yan testified, when asked if KPMG “elected not to produce documents to the SEC in
response to the Section 106 requests,” that he did not “think there is an election as such” and “I
think we simply have no choice.” Tr. 2001. He also testified: “I don’t think I have a choice. I
just have to comply with Chinese law.” Tr. 2002. However, when asked whether he “could live
with” a bar on practicing before the Commission, he stated: “No, the consequence we couldn’t
live with, but I have to comply with Chinese law. I — well, basically there is a conflict between
the two laws. I have to be forced to make a decision.” Tr. 2002-03. He also testified that he
believed “the decision” regarding how to respond to the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 requests was made
by KPMG’s chairman in consultation with its management committee. Tr. 2004-05.

J. Wong testified, when asked if KPMG “chose not to produce the work papers directly to
the SEC,” that she “wouldn’t say it’s a choice.” Tr. 2266. However, she also testified, when
asked if KPMG “decided to follow those oral and written directives” from the CSRC, “[y]es, we
are complying with the CSRC.” Tr. 2269.

D. DTTC

DTTC is headquartered in Shanghai, China. Tr. 1625. As of June 2012, it had seven
offices in China and no offices outside of China, and approximately 5,857 employees, including

7 Yan testified that the screening pertained to Clients E and F, but Resp. Ex. 650-A clearly shows
that it is for Clients D and F, as J. Wong testified. Tr. 1926, 1993, 2192.
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4431 accountants and 974 CPAs. Div. Ex. 17. Richard George (George) has been a CPA in
Hong Kong for about eighteen years. Tr. 1639. He is currently the reputation and risk leader for
Deloitte China, which includes DTTC and the Deloitte affiliates in Hong Kong and Macau. Tr.
1597. He is responsible for firm-wide risk management, regulatory affairs, independence
conflicts, ethics, legal, and security. Tr. 1598. His group considers requests from regulators and
formulates recommendations about them to firm leadership. Tr. 1598. He sits on DTTC’s
management executive body, and five partners and thirty-two staff report to him. Tr. 1598. Chiu
Chi Man (Chiu) works in Beijing as DTTC’s professional practice director for northern China,
covering DTTC’s Beijing, Tianjin, and Dalian offices. Tr. 1768-69. He is responsible for
ensuring that DTTC employees comply with the law, although another professional practice
director handles that responsibility with respect to U.S. issuers. Tr. 1769. Chiu began his career
as an accountant in 1987 with KPMG Hong Kong and moved to DTTC in 1990. Tr. 1769-70.
He was seconded to the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission in 1997, and to the
CSRC for two years beginning in 2002, one year full time and one year part time. Tr. 1770. He
returned to DTTC full time in 2004, although he is now at DTTC part time. Tr. 1770-71.

DTTC is regulated in China by the CSRC, which has the authority to revoke DTTC’s
registration. Tr. 1608-09, 1714-15. DTTC registered with the Board in June 2004. Tr. 1624,
1664; Div. Ex. 7; Resp. Ex. 205. Its registration with the Board was its first registration with a
foreign regulator. Tr. 1630-31. DTTC did not sign the “Consent to Cooperate With the Board
and Statement of Acceptance of Registration Condition” in its PCAOB Form 1. Tr. 1625; Resp.
Ex. 205 at 16. DTTC’s lack of consent was based upon an April 16, 2004, letter from Century-
Link, which opined that Chinese law prevented KPMG from complying with PCAOB testimony
and document requests. Tr. 1625; Resp. Ex. 205 at 201. DTTC also provided a letter with its
application stating that it would take reasonable steps to cooperate with requests for testimony
and for production of documents made by the Board. Tr. 1626; Resp. Ex. 205 at 227.

By letter dated June 2, 2004, the Board accepted DTTC’s application, acknowledged that
it had withheld consent to cooperate, and told DTTC that it was obligated to follow U.S. law.
Tr. 1629, 1667-68; Div. Ex. 7. In its 2010, 2011, and 2012 annual reports to the Board, DTTC
declined to affirm that it consented to cooperate with Board investigations, but also disclosed
that it had issued audit reports for thirty-two, forty-five, and forty-five U.S. issuers, respectively,
for all of which DTTC had been paid. Tr. 1668-75; Div. Ex. 15 at 6-10, 22; Div. Ex. 16 at 6-12,
23; Div. Ex. 17 at 6-12, 23. DTTC is a “foreign public accounting firm” as that term is defined
in Sarbanes-Oxley. Tr. 1677. On June 9, 2011, DTTC designated Deloitte & Touche LLP,
located in the U.S., as its agent for service of Sarbanes-Oxley 106 requests. Tr. 1680-81; Div.
Ex. 165-A at 5-6.

1. DTTC Client A Investigation

DTTC Client A is based in China, manufactures and distributes solar panels, and is
incorporated in Ontario, Canada. Tr. 53; Div. Ex. 124 at 4. Its securities are registered with the
Commission and trade on NASDAQ. Tr. 54. DTTC audited DTTC Client A’s financial
statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2008, through December 31, 2012. Tr. 1645.
As of April 26, 2013, it remained a client of DTTC. Div. Ex. 124 at 143.
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Laura Josephs (Josephs) is an assistant director in the Division, where she oversees and
supervises the investigation of potential securities violations. Tr. 51-52. She joined the Division
in 1990 as a staff attorney, was later promoted to branch chief and deputy assistant director, and
was named an assistant director in 2004. Tr. 52. She supervised the investigation of DTTC
Client A and testified for the Division on that subject. Tr. 52-53.

The subject matter of the DTTC Client A investigation was financial fraud, focusing on
revenue recognition issues, for the period 2008 to 2010. Tr. 54. Investigators obtained several
thousand documents directly from DTTC Client A, including documents relating to financial
statements, and DTTC Client A did not withhold anything based upon Chinese law, to Josephs’
knowledge. Tr. 57-58.

Investigators issued a subpoena on April 9, 2010, to DTTC’s U.S. affiliate, Deloitte LLP,
asking for “[a]ll documents” relating to audits and reviews of DTTC Client A by any Deloitte
LLP affiliate, including all “manual and electronic workpapers.” Tr. 61-62; Div. Ex. 129 at 8.
Josephs testified that audit work papers are useful to investigators because the audit firm has
already examined a company’s financial information and because they help to assess liability, in
that they may reveal whether a company has been honest with its auditors, whether the auditors
opined that the company’s conduct was proper, or whether the auditors were complicit in the
company’s misconduct. Tr. 59-61. Investigators received an oral response from Deloitte LLP
and a Deloitte network liaison, Cary Miller (Miller), stating that Deloitte LLP had not performed
any audit work for DTTC Client A, that DTTC was a separate entity, and that DTTC could not
produce any documents voluntarily because of various legal impediments. Tr. 62-63.

DTTC Client A filed a form 6-K on June 3, 2010, which attached a press release
announcing the receipt of a subpoena from the Commission requesting documents related to
certain sales transactions in 2009, and the resulting initiation of an internal investigation by
DTTC Client A’s audit committee. Tr. 54-55; Div. Ex. 125. DTTC Client A also filed a form
20-F on August 19, 2010, which attached DTTC’s audit opinion for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2008, and December 31, 2009, which opinion referenced findings of material
weaknesses in internal controls, but was otherwise unqualified. Tr. 56; Div. Ex. 121 at F-2.

After contacting Deloitte LLP, and before contacting DTTC directly, investigators sent a
request for DTTC’s “work papers” to the CSRC through OIA, based on the MMOU, on June 7,
2010. Tr. 64-65, 100; Div. Ex. 192. Investigators were “hopeful” at the time that the CSRC
would gather and produce the requested documents. Tr. 65. The CSRC sent DTTC a request on
July 6, 2010, for its “audit working papers” of DTTC Client A for 2008 and 2009. Tr. 103-04,
1599; Resp. Exs. 72, 72-A. DTTC produced nineteen boxes of documents, including 2008 and
2009 “working paper,” on July 23, 2010. Tr. 104-05, 1600-01; Resp. Exs. 74, 75, 75-A. These
included the documents received by DTTC pertaining to the investigation ordered by DTTC
Client A’s audit committee. Tr. 1648-50. The CSRC did not produce the documents, and
investigators still do not have the requested audit work papers. Tr. 65. The CSRC responded to
OIA with a “variety” of explanations for not producing the requested documents. Tr. 66-67.

After learning that Deloitte LLP had performed “some sort of ministerial formatting type
work” for DTTC Client A, investigators sent a second subpoena to Deloitte LLP on June 8,
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2010, asking for “[a]ll documents” relating to any work done by any Deloitte affiliate for DTTC
Client A. Tr. 68; Div. Ex. 130 at 7. Deloitte LLP responded by letter dated June 29, 2010,
enclosing approximately 1,749 pages of responsive documents, but otherwise stating that

Deloitte LLP did not possess responsive documents or information, and referring investigators to
DT Iy, 69:Div. Bx. 131.

2. Client G Investigation

Client G, a former client of DTTC, is based in China, designs, manufactures, and sells
offset printing equipment, and was incorporated in Wyoming as of September 2010. Tr. 693-94;
Div. Ex. 92. Its securities are registered with the Commission and were traded on the NYSE
until April 2011, when they began trading over the counter. Tr. 694. Moore Stephens Wurth
Frazer and Torbet, LLP, an accounting firm based in California, which later became Frazer Frost
LLP (Frazer Frost), issued audit reports as to Client G’s financial statements for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2008, and June 30, 2009. Tr. 694, 731-32; Div. Exs. 91, 92. Client G dismissed
Frazer Frost on March 1, 2010. Div. Ex. 91.

DTTC was engaged on March 2, 2010, to audit the financial statements of Client G for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010. Tr. 694-95, 1652; Div. Ex. 91. It never completed the
audit before being terminated on September 6, 2010, although it did commence audit work.® Tr.
697, 700-01, 1652; Div. Ex. 92. Frazer Frost then returned as Client G’s auditor. Tr. 715.

Rhoda Chang (Chang) is a staff accountant in the Division, based in the Los Angeles
regional office, and has been with the Commission since 2003. Tr. 691-92. She assists in
Division investigations by analyzing and reviewing financial records and audit work papers. Tr.
692. She has worked on various financial fraud cases, including ones involving financial
statement misstatements and inadequate or falsified disclosures, and she has reviewed auditor
conduct. Tr. 692. She participated in the investigation of Client G and testified for the Division
on that subject. Tr. 692-93.

The Client G investigation began in September or October 2010 and covered the period
July 1, 2009, to the present. Tr. 694, 702; Div. Ex. 211 at 2. The trigger for the investigation
was a form 8-K filed on September 13, 2010, which disclosed the dismissal of DTTC as Client
G’s auditor, effective September 6, 2010, and the resignation of three members of Client G’s
audit committee. Tr. 694-95, 713, 719, 1652; Div. Ex. 92 at 5-6; Div. Ex. 211 at 2. The
investigation’s subject matter is described in the form 8-K: Client G’s denial of access to DTTC
to review original bank statements, DTTC’s inability to verify the authenticity of advertising and

¥ Additionally, Chang testified that DTTC “would have” reviewed Client G’s form 10-Q
financial statement for the quarter ended March 31, 2010; i.e., it would have conducted an
interim review. Tr. 725; see 17 C.F.R. § 210.10-01(d) (auditors must review interim financial
statements included in forms 10-Q). I have taken official notice of Client G’s form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2010, pursuant to Rule 323. 17 C.F.R. § 201.323. There is no
indication in the form 10-Q that DTTC reviewed it, nor is there a requirement that the form so
indicate. 17 C.F.R. § 210.10-01(d).
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tradeshow costs, and inconsistencies in information about certain distributors and vendors of
Client G. Div. Ex. 92 at 5.

Investigators initially reviewed Client G’s public filings, and then sent a subpoena to
Client G. Tr. 696. They also sent a subpoena to Frazer Frost for Client G’s audit work papers.
Tr. 696. They sought audit work papers because they expected them to aid in understanding
Client G’s internal controls and bank account information and Frazer Frost’s review procedures.
Tr. 699-701. Investigators received “a couple hundred thousand pages” from Client G, including
financial records, general ledgers, invoices, and purchase orders. Tr. 696-97. Frazer Frost
produced its audit work papers generated between January 1, 2008, and March 2010, when they
were dismissed, as well as review work papers, email communications, and the audit staff’s desk
files. Tr. 699. To Chang’s knowledge, neither Client G nor Frazer Frost withheld any
documents based on Chinese law. Tr. 697, 700.

Investigators also sought DTTC’s Client G audit work papers, because they believed they
would shed light on the issues and allegations disclosed in Client G’s September 13, 2010, form
8-K. Tr. 701. As Chang’s first step in requesting DTTC’s audit work papers, she contacted
Miller shortly after the investigation opened. Tr. 702. Eventually, Miller told Chang that DTTC
needed Client G’s consent to produce audit work papers, but after obtaining that consent, DTTC
did not produce the audit work papers. Tr. 702-04; Div. Ex. 94; Resp. Ex. 95.

Chang sent a voluntary request for production to DTTC on May 5, 2011, seeking audit
work papers and other documents. Tr. 704; Div. Ex. 96. DTTC responded orally in May 2011,
and in writing on September 27, 2011, declining to produce its audit work papers on the basis of
Chinese law. Tr. 704-05; Div. Ex. 97. The written response cited various Chinese laws,
including Reg 29, the State Secrets Law, and laws pertaining to archives and public accountants,
and attached a letter dated April 16, 2004, from Century-Link, opining that various provisions of
Chinese law prohibited production of the requested documents. Div. Ex. 97 at 1-3, 24-48. After
receiving DTTC’s oral response to the voluntary request, on June 30, 2011, investigators made a
request to the CSRC, through OIA, for assistance in obtaining the Client G audit work papers.
Tr. 705; Div. Ex. 211. The request to the CSRC was unsuccessful. Tr. 706.

3. DTTC Client A Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Request

After Dodd-Frank took effect, investigators decided to send DTTC a Sarbanes-Oxley 106
request regarding DTTC Client A because a response would be mandatory, rather than voluntary.
Tr. 69-70. The DTTC Client A Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request was issued on March 11, 2011,
seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other documents related to any audit work or interim
reviews” for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2009. Tr. 70, 108; Div. Ex. 127. DTTC
informed the CSRC of the request, and the CSRC told DTTC not to produce the audit work
papers directly to the Commission, and that the appropriate channel for production was through
the CSRC. Tr. 1601-02. George viewed this direction as “very clear,” and understood that there
were “potentially very serious consequences” for both DTTC and its employees if they
disobeyed their Chinese regulator. Tr. 1603, 1608, 1616. DTTC viewed any effort to obtain
guidance from the State Secrets Bureau and the State Archives Bureau, in addition to the CSRC,
and any effort to obtain client consent to production, as superfluous. Tr. 1608-10.
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DTTC, through counsel, informed investigators in March 2011 (possibly during a
conference call on March 29, 2011) that the CSRC had approached DTTC about the requested
documents, and that DTTC had produced them to the CSRC in July 2010. Tr. 66-67, 70, 101,
157-58. DTTC also stated that it could not comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request
“because of various legal impediments,” although Josephs opined that DTTC’s counsel “didn’t
seem to have a firm grasp on what those legal impediments were.” Tr. 70-71. The legal
impediments were provided to investigators in “laundry list” fashion by email dated April 11,
2011. Tr. 158-59; Div. Ex. 132.

DTTC made a written inquiry of the CSRC on April 8, 2011, seeking “direction on how
we may respond to SEC.” Tr. 122-23; Resp. Ex. 92, 92-A. Chairman Schapiro issued the
Schapiro Letter on April 27, 2011. Tr. 109-12.

DTTC, through counsel, later sent a written response, dated April 29, 2011, to the DTTC
Client A Sarbanes-Oxley 106 response. Tr. 72; Div. Ex. 128; Resp. Ex. 97. The written
response stated that DTTC produced responsive documents to the CSRC on July 23, 2010, and
that Haijun, an “officer” of the CSRC, told DTTC on April 19, 2011, that direct production to the
Commission was not permitted and that the CSRC could not provide a written confirmation of its
position. Div. Ex. 128. The written response also stated that DTTC “wishes to cooperate with
the SEC” and would be happy to provide the requested documents if permitted to do so. Div.
Ex. 128. It was otherwise relatively terse and discussed the legal impediments to production in
very general terms, although it did cite specifically to Reg 29. Tr. 72-73, 125; Div. Ex. 128.

Josephs opined that the lack of audit work papers delayed the investigation of DTTC
Client A, and that a “significant chunk” of the investigation was missing. Tr. 74. The
investigation remains ongoing. Tr. 74. Josephs did not seek DTTC Client A’s audit work papers
through the Board, she does not recall reading the MOUEC to determine if it could be used to
obtain them, and she does not know whether the Board can share information it receives with the
Commission. Tr. 83, 89-91. She did not think the MOUEC would “necessarily” be better than
the avenues investigators had already pursued. Tr. 161-62.

Investigators issued a Wells notice regarding DTTC Client A to DTTC on July 6, 2011.
Tr. 76; Div. Ex. 147. On August 10, 2011, DTTC filed a Wells submission. Div. Ex. 162. On
the same day, it wrote to Haijun at the CSRC, requesting he “reconsider” his earlier decision to
prohibit direct production of audit work papers to the Commission. Tr. 132-33; Resp. Exs. 115,
116. The CSRC did not change its position. Tr. 1613.

Two partners at DTTC, its national audit leader and a regulatory partner reporting to
George, attended a meeting with the CSRC on October 10, 2011. Tr. 1614. The CSRC told
DTTC? that any approach from a foreign regulator should be referred to the CSRC, DTTC could
not unilaterally produce audit work papers to the foreign regulator, and the appropriate channel
for production was through the CSRC. Tr. 1614-15. George testified that DTTC did not think
there was any “ambiguity” in these instructions. Tr. 1615. The CSRC issued Letter 413 to

? George testified that the CSRC gave this direction to “the firms,” rather than solely to DTTC.
Tr. 1613-15.
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DTTC the next day, October 11, 2011, confirming these instructions. Tr. 1613; Resp. Ex. 245,
245-A.

On January 27, 2012, DTTC, through counsel, wrote to Josephs to report the results of
the October 10, 2011, meeting between the CSRC, the MOF, and Respondents. Tr. 134-36;
Resp. Ex. 137. At some time in January 2012, CSRC representatives met with the Commission
in Washington, D.C. Tr. 137. On January 31, 2012, DTTC, including George, met with the
Division in Washington, D.C., to discuss the Division’s proposed enforcement action (i.e., the
DTTC OIP) and efforts DTTC could make to facilitate production of documents to the CSRC.
Tr. 139-41. George considered this meeting to be part of the Wells process. Tr. 1616. At the
meeting, DTTC conveyed its understanding of the CSRC’s instructions, and the Division stated
its intention, nonetheless, to recommend issuance of the DTTC OIP, but the Division also stated
that it might be possible to defer formal initiation of the enforcement proceeding to give DTTC
more time to work with the CSRC. Tr. 1616-17.

Josephs informed DTTC’s outside U.S. counsel by voicemail on February 3, 2012, that
the Commission, with Mary Schapiro as Chairman, had authorized the DTTC OIP. Tr. 146, 157.
Later that day, Josephs and DTTC’s outside U.S. counsel spoke, and Josephs told DTTC’s
outside counsel that there would be a delay between authorization and issuance. Tr. 146-47.
The purpose of the delay was to allow DTTC to work with the CSRC to facilitate production of
DTTC Client A’s audit work papers, and this purpose was later memorialized in an attachment to
a letter from DTTC’s outside U.S. counsel to Josephs dated February 8, 2012. Tr. 148-49; Resp.
Ex. 140. Thereafter, Josephs and DTTC’s outside U.S. counsel spoke at least weekly about
DTTC’s progress and related matters. Tr. 147.

4. Client G Sarbanes-Oxley 106 Request

Investigators decided to send DTTC a Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request regarding Client G
because a failure to respond to such a request, in contrast to a failure to respond to a voluntary
request, would have “repercussion[s].” Tr. 706-07. The Client G Sarbanes-Oxley 106 request
was issued on February 14, 2012, seeking “[a]ll audit work papers and all other documents
related to any audit work or interim reviews” for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2010. Tr. 707,
Div. Ex. 93. DTTC responded by letter dated April 17, 2012, citing Chinese law and Letter 413.
Tr. 707-08; Div. Ex. 94. It also attached four documents from the Commission’s action seeking
enforcement of an administrative subpoena pertaining to work papers generated during DTTC’s
audit of Longtop Financial Technologies Limited (Longtop). SEC v. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
CPA 1.td., No. 1:11-me-00512 (D.D.C.).

Investigators still do not have DTTC’s Client G audit work papers. Tr. 708. Chang
opined that this has hampered the investigation because investigators do not know the facts
surrounding the issues mentioned in Client G’s September 13, 2009, form 8-K. Tr. 708-09.

The Division issued a Wells notice on April 30, 2012. Tr. 709; Div. Ex. 144. DTTC
filed a Wells submission on May 29, 2012. Div. Ex. 152.
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5. Recent Events

Chiu, on behalf of DTTC, attended a meeting with the CSRC at the CSRC’s Beijing
office sometime in February 2012. Tr. 1771-72. DTTC’s managing partner for northern China
and a partner in its risk and reputation group also attended. Tr. 1772-73. Tong Zi (Tong)
attended on behalf of the CSRC. Tr. 1772-73. At the meeting, the CSRC said that it understood
DTTC was in a difficult situation with regard to DTTC Client A and that it wanted to facilitate
production of audit work papers to the Commission. Tr. 1772-73. Chiu understood that DTTC
could not produce audit work papers directly to the Commission and instead had to go through
the CSRC. Tr. 1795-96.

Tong asked DTTC to screen the DTTC Client A audit work papers for, and redact any,
state secrets. Tr. 1774-75. The CSRC explained what constituted state secrets, using examples
from the DTTC Client A audit work papers. Tr. 1774. In general terms, Chiu understood
information to be a state secret if its disclosure would “affect the interest of the state.” Tr. 1797.
Chiu was “quite optimistic™ after the February 2012 meeting. Tr. 1775.

DTTC thereafter formed a review team, overseen by Chiu, which involved three other
DTTC partners and a Chinese law firm. Tr. 1776-77. The team spent about two weeks
reviewing the audit work papers page by page, and determined that a relatively small portion of
the audit work papers contained state secrets. Tr. 1777-78. The portion containing state secrets
was cataloged in a spreadsheet that was between three and six pages long and contained about
five to ten entries per spreadsheet page. Tr. 1806, 1808-09. Chiu could not remember the
precise number of pages of audit work papers which DTTC had determined contained state
secrets. Tr. 1809. The state secrets were “scattered throughout the working papers,” and
included “technology know-how” and non-public Chinese “governance policy.” Tr. 1800-01,
1804. State secrets were not, “in general,” found in bank confirmations, supplier confirmations,
customer confirmations, bank statements, financial books and records, or DTTC’s findings. Tr.
1804-05. DTTC reported the results to the CSRC at interim and final meetings. Tr. 1778. The
CSRC then reviewed the results, discussed them with other government agencies, determined
that it agreed with most but not all of DTTC’s findings, and directed DTTC to redact the papers
accordingly using a marker, which was done at the CSRC’s office. Tr. 1778-79, 1807.

The CSRC then made an offer to the Commission to produce the DTTC Client A audit
work papers, subject to two conditions. Tr. 1780. DTTC did not participate in setting those
conditions. Tr. 1780. Chiu understood that the Commission rejected the offer, apparently based
on a May 8, 2012, email from OIA to the CSRC stating that the conditions the CSRC had
imposed on production of the DTTC Client A audit work papers were “inconsistent with the
assistance [OIA] need[s].” Tr. 1024, 1780, Div. Ex. 223. Chiu felt helpless, because he felt
DTTC could do nothing to resolve the disagreement between the regulators. Tr. 1780-81.

The Commission then issued the DTTC OIP on May 9, 2012, shortly after the end of the
2012 Strategic and Economic Dialogue between the U.S. and China, although Josephs testified
that she did not recall that the issuance of the DTTC OIP was tied to the timing of the Strategic
and Economic Dialogue. Tr. 150-51. On July 19, 2012, I issued an order postponing
proceedings under the DTTC OIP. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Ltd.
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(July 19, 2012) (unpublished) (Postponement Order). The Postponement Order noted that the
Division sought a six-month stay because in July 2012, the Chairman of the Commission
discussed with the Chairman of the CSRC and other Chinese government officials the need to
develop a mechanism for the Commission to obtain documents from audit firms in China. It also
noted that the Division represented that if Commission staff satisfactorily obtained the
documents it sought from the CSRC through these negotiations, the Division would likely seek
to dismiss the DTTC OIP. On December 10, 2012, I issued an order in which I noted the
Division’s representation that negotiations between the Commission and the CSRC had been
unsuccessful. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants Ltd. (Dec. 10, 2012)
(unpublished).

The CSRC contacted DTTC about the audit work papers for Longtop in July 2012,
because it wanted to “resolve the deadlock with the SEC.” Tr. 1782. Chiu then met with the
CSRC, which informed him that it wanted DTTC to review the Longtop audit work papers, in a
manner similar to the DTTC Client A review. Tr. 1783. Because the Longtop review involved
more documents, it also involved more personnel and a computerized key word search. Tr.
1783-84. In total, about 9,000 man-hours were expended by DTTC during the review. Tr. 1784.
DTTC reported back its results to the CSRC in approximately November 2012, although DTTC
did not produce the audit work papers to the CSRC at that time. Tr. 1784-85.

Chiu and two other DTTC partners met with the CSRC and MOF in February 2013. Tr.
1785-86. The Chinese regulators explained that they had consulted with different government
agencies, including the State Council, which is a “very high level of government,” and had
formulated procedures for handling requests for audit work papers from overseas regulators. Tr.
1787-88. The procedure, in summary, was: the regulators determine whether a request is
appropriate to process; the regulators ask accounting firms to search for state secrets in the audit
work papers and submit them to the CSRC within a specified period; and the regulators further
process the papers and coordinate with the overseas regulators. Tr. 1787-88. The regulators
emphasized that in screening audit work papers, accounting firms should use “sound judgment”
and redact matter only because it contains state secrets, and not because it contains matter that
would cast the accounting firm in a bad light. Tr. 1788-91.

The regulators also told DTTC that it should consider the meeting to be an informal
notice of a request for the DTTC Client A and Longtop audit work papers, and that DTTC would
receive a formal notice later. Tr. 1791. DTTC received a formal notice pertaining to Longtop on
April 8, 2013, and a formal notice pertaining to DTTC Client A on April 16, 2013. Tr. 1791-92;
Resp. Exs. 636, 644. In May 2013, DTTC produced to the CSRC the reviewed DTTC Client A
audit work papers, including audit work papers generated after the July 23, 2010, demand. Tr.
1695-96. According to Chiu, the CSRC has produced the Longtop papers to the Commission,
and is still working on producing the DTTC Client A papers. Tr. 1792-93. DTTC thereafter
produced Client G’s audit work papers to the CSRC in July 2013. Tr. 1637, 1793.

George opined that DTTC had “no choice at all” as to whether it could produce audit
work papers directly to the Commission. Tr. 1715-16. He denied that “[sJomebody at DTTC
made the decision to follow [the CSRC’s] direction,” because “there was no decision to make.”
Tr. 1718. However, he also testified that DTTC “decided not to act contrary to” the CSRC’s
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direction. Tr. 1723. He explained that the “position” that DTTC could not produce audit work
papers directly was “pre-existing” since 2004, when DTTC registered with the Board. Tr. 1719-
21. His group formulates such positions in consultation with counsel and “take[s] them to our
firm leadership in order to have a final decision made.” Tr. 1719-22.

E. PwC

PwC is an accounting firm headquartered in Shanghai, China. Tr. 1285; Div. Ex. 26 at 1.
It is the “largest firm in China.” Tr. 1390. It performs services primarily in mainland China and
Hong Kong and has no offices or employees outside of China. Tr. 1285. Two persons testified
for PwC, Raymond Chao (Chao) and Debra Wong (D. Wong). Tr. 1284, 1830. Chao, who is a
chartered accountant in Canada and a licensed CPA in Hong Kong, worked at Arthur Andersen
until 2002 or 2003, when Arthur Andersen merged with PwC. Tr. 1288, 1323-24. He moved to
Beijing from Hong Kong in 2003, but travels on business about fifty percent of the time. Tr.
1288, 1324. In late 2005, he became PwC’s assurance leader for China, and in 2011, he became
PwC’s assurance leader for Hong Kong, China, and the Asia-Pacific region. Tr. 1288-89. As
assurance leader, he heads PwC’s assurance practice, which largely involves auditing. Tr. 1284,
1286. He is ultimately responsible for the 6,000 to 7,000 PwC employees working in that area of
PwC’s business. Tr. 1284-85. D. Wong graduated from college in 1978 and has been licensed
as an accountant in Canada since 1981, and in Hong Kong since 1991. Tr. 1882. She worked as
an accountant in Canada between 1978 and 1988, and moved to Hong Kong in 1988. Tr. 1882.
Beginning in 1988 she worked on audit engagements in China, and has traveled back and forth
between Hong Kong and China. Tr. 1894. She was PwC’s overall risk management leader from
2005 until 2010, when she became a regional risk management leader, although she retained her
risk management position in connection with Commission matters even after 2010. Tr. 1830-31.
She has retired from, and is currently a contract employee of, PwC, serving as risk management
leader “for SEC matters for FPI clients.” Tr. 1883. She routinely interacts with PwC’s audit
engagement teams, for example, when audit adjustments may be required or client fraud is
suspected. Tr. 1831. She is generally familiar with PwC’s engagements of Clients H and I. Tr.
1832.

PwC primarily provides assurance services, which largely involves auditing. Tr. 1285-
86. In 2004 it had eleven offices with 2,060 employees, including 1,780 accountants and 470
CPAs, and in 2012 it had ten offices with 8,578 employees, including 7,354 accountants and
2,428 CPAs. Div. Exs. 5, 26; Resp. Exs. 1, 605. PwC’s clients include private companies,
public companies listed both in China and elsewhere, including the U.S., and state-owned
enterprises, which may be listed in China, Hong Kong, and, in some cases, the U.S. Tr. 1286-87.
Since at least 2002, PwC has made a substantial investment in servicing U.S. issuers; it trains its
personnel and sends them overseas for development, and has organized them in a practice group
specializing in U.S. reporting work. Tr. 1287-88. Chao considers its U.S. issuer business to be
“very significant,” and PwC invested in the business because it expected it to be a very important
market in the future. Tr. 1288, 1319. With respect to U.S. multinational companies, PwC is
generally engaged as a component auditor, and “in some cases